Intraspecific Variation in Plant-Animal Interactions of the Brassicaceae Family Along a Steep Rainfall Gradient in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin

Dissertation

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen

zur Erlangung des Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften

(Dr. rer. nat.)

Vorgelegt von

BSc. Eleanor Valerie June Gibson-Forty

Aus Gloucester, Großbritannien

Tübingen

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen
Fakultät der Eberhard Karls
Universität Tübingen.
Tag der mündlichen Qualifikation: 19.11.2018

19.11.2010
Prof. Dr Wolfgang Rosenstiel
Prof. Dr Katja Tielbörger
Prof. Dr Oliver Bossdorf

Abstract

The future climate of dryland ecosystems is predicted to become increasingly arid as rainfall decreases and becomes more unpredictable and extreme. Consequently, dryland plant communities may risk extinction if species are unable to adapt to increasing aridity. A plethora of theoretical and empirical studies has investigated plant adaptations to arid environments, yet, adaptations in plant-animal interactions are often overlooked. Because the abiotic environment can determine the composition of pollinators and herbivores, which, in turn, can drive the coevolution and trade-offs in plant reproductive strategies and plant herbivore defences, it is critical that we investigate the dependencies of plants on the activities of their associated animals under different climatic conditions. Observing intraspecific variation in plant-animal interactions along environmental gradients provides compelling evidence of how the ecosystem may respond to the future climate. Whilst this approach has been exploited for latitudinal and elevation gradients, fewer studies have addressed intraspecific variation in plant-animal interactions along rainfall gradients. In addition, these studies often use a single plant species which reduces our ability to generalise.

This dissertation aims to provide much needed evidence for the effects of increasing aridity on plant performance, mediated through their interactions with pollinators and herbivores, as predicted by climate change. A steep rainfall gradient in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin was used to determine the effect of increasing aridity on pollinator services and herbivory pressure. Simultaneously, a pollinator-exclusion experiment in the field determined whether different plant species in the Brassicaceae family could secure their reproduction by self-fertilisation in the absence of pollinators. Furthermore, evidence of increasing self-compatibility as an adaptation to increasing aridity was ascertained by a pollination manipulation experiment. Finally, quantifying the concentration of glucosinolates in plant species highlighted the relationship between herbivory damage and plant chemical defence investment.

Ш

The abundance and diversity of pollinators decreased with increasing aridity, whilst self-fertilisation was variable across the plant species. This weak relationship suggests pollinator limitation plays a minor role in selecting for self-fertilisation in plants. Genetically, the plant species were more self-compatible in increasingly arid environments, suggesting that the mechanisms of prezygotic self-incompatibility weaken with increasing aridity. In congruence with decreasing pollinator activity, herbivore pressure also decreased with increasing aridity, yet, total leaf glucosinolate concentration in plants did not change. The lack of evidence for a trade-off in leaf damage by herbivory and total leaf glucosinolates concentration suggests herbivore pressure may not be the dominant factor selecting for plant chemical defence.

Taken together, the research of this thesis shows that plant performance is surprisingly robust to variations in the pollinator community and in herbivore pressure. I conclude that, whilst the diversity of the pollinator community and the resilience of herbivores may be under threat in future climates, the reproductive success and resource-allocation into constitutive herbivore defences in plants, at least in the Brassicaceae family, shall remain relatively unaffected by climate change.

Kurzfassung

Das künftige Klima von Trockengebieten wird voraussichtlich noch trockener durch weiter abnehmende Regenfälle deren Auftreten zudem immer unberechenbarer und extremer werden dürfte. Folglich können Pflanzengemeinschaften der Trockengebiete durch unzureichende Anpassung vom Aussterben bedroht sein. Eine Vielzahl von theoretischen und empirischen Studien hat die Adaption von Pflanzen an die abiotischen Bedingungen in Trockengebieten untersucht, jedoch sind in diesen Studien die Adaptionen der Pflanzen an die mit ihnen interagierenden Tieren weitgehend unbeachtet geblieben. Da die abiotische Umgebung die Zusammenstellung von Bestäubern und Herbivoren bestimmen kann, was wiederum die Koevolution und trade-offs zwischen Pflanzenvermehrungs-Strategien und Abwehrmechanismen gegen Herbivore antreiben kann, ist es erforderlich, die Abhängigkeiten von Pflanzen von den Aktivitäten ihrer assoziierten Tiere unter verschiedenen Klimabedingungen zu untersuchen. Die Analyse intraspezifischer Variation von Pflanzen-Tier-Interaktionen entlang von Umweltgradienten kann überzeugende Hinweise liefern, wie das Ökosystem auf das zukünftige Klima reagieren könnte. Diese intraspezifische Variationen in den Wechselwirkungen zwischen Pflanzen und Tieren wurden entlang von Nord-Süd- sowie Höhengradienten schon vielfach untersucht, doch nur wenige Studien haben sich mit den Pflanze-Tier- Interaktionen entlang von regionalen Niederschlagsgradienten auseinandergesetzt. Darüber hinaus basierten diese Studien meistens nur auf einer einzigen Pflanzenart, wodurch unsere Fähigkeit zur Verallgemeinerung eingeschränkt wird.

Diese Dissertation erarbeitet Hinweise auf die Auswirkungen der prognostizierten zunehmender Trockenheit auf die Performanz von Pflanzen in Abhängigkeit von ihren Wechselwirkungen mit Bestäubern und Pflanzenfressern. Die Effekte der zunehmenden Trockenheit auf Bestäuber-Dienste und Herbivoren-Exposition wurden in einem Gebiet mit steilem Niederschlagsgefälle im östlichen Mittelmeerbecken untersucht. Gleichzeitig stellte ein Bestäuber-Exklusionsexperiment im Freiland fest, ob verschiedene Pflanzenarten in der Brassicaceae-Familie ihre Reproduktion durch Selbstbefruchtung in Abwesenheit von Bestäubern sichern können. Darüber hinaus wurde durch eine

Manipulation der Bestäubung der Nachweis einer zunehmenden Eigenkompatibilität als Anpassung an zunehmende Trockenheit erbracht. Schließlich zeigten Konzentrations-Messungen von Glucosinolaten in den Pflanzenarten die Beziehung zwischen dem Schädigungsgrad durch Pflanzenfresser und der pflanzlichen Investition in die chemische Verteidigung.

Die Abundanz und Diversität von Bestäubern nahm mit zunehmender Trockenheit ab, während der Grad der Selbstbefruchtung der Pflanzenarten weitgehend unabhängig vom Trockenheits-Gradienten variierte. Dieser Befund deutet darauf hin, dass bei den untersuchten Pflanzen eine Beschränkung der Bestäuber keine entscheidende Rolle für die Ausprägung der Selbstbefruchtung spielt. Genetisch waren die Pflanzenarten in zunehmend trockener Umgebung mit sich selbst kompatibler, was darauf hindeutet, dass die Mechanismen der präzygotischen Selbst-Inkompatibilität mit zunehmender Trockenheit schwächer werden. In Übereinstimmung mit abnehmender Bestäubungsaktivität nahm auch die Belastung durch Pflanzenfresser mit zunehmender Trockenheit ab, jedoch änderte sich die Gesamtkonzentration von Blattglucosinolaten in Pflanzen nicht. Der Mangel an Beweisen für einen Trade-off zwischen Blattschädigungen durch Pflanzenfresser und der Gesamtkonzentration von Blattglucosinolaten legt nahe, dass der Pflanzenfresserdruck nicht der dominierende Faktor bei der Auswahl einer chemischen Verteidigung der Pflanze ist.

Zusammenfassend zeigen die Untersuchungen dieser Arbeit, dass die Pflanzen-Performanz gegenüber Veränderungen in der Bestäuber-Gemeinschaft und dem Fraßdruck durch Herbivore erstaunlich robust ist. Ich folgere daraus, dass die Vielfalt der Bestäuber-Gemeinschaften und die Widerstandsfähigkeit von Pflanzenfressern in künftig stärker ariden Klimaregimes durchaus gefährdet sein können, jedoch der Reproduktionserfolg und die Ressourcenverteilung in konstitutive Pflanzenfresser-Abwehr von Pflanzen, zumindest in der Familie der Brassicaceae, vom Klimawandel relativ unberührt bleiben.

VI

Acknowledgements

I am very grateful and offer my warmest thanks to my supervisor Prof. Dr Katja Tielbörger, thank you for your support and guidance that spanned multiple countries (Israel, Palestine, Jordan, Germany, UK, Australia). Thanks go to the members on my Thesis Advisory Committee, Prof. Dr Oliver Bossdorf and Prof. Dr Verena Schuenemann. I thank Dr Merav Seifan for hosting me in the Plant Ecology lab in Sde Boker, Israel, for making me feel so welcome and part of the group, and for continually supporting and supervising me during my time in the field and whilst writing. I thank all members of both Plant Ecology groups in Tübingen and Sde Boker for your encouragement, for help with statistics, and with scientific discussion. Special thanks go to Fabian Slowik for sharing his knowledge of statistics with me and teaching me the beauty of R syntax, as well as enduring the heat in the field with me. Many thanks go to all the people who helped me in the field in Israel including Na'ama Aljadeff, Ariel Altmann, Ili Ash, Ifat Granat, Ishai Hoffman, Oren Hoffman, Hagar Leschner, Dar Oz, Adam Sabatani, and Adam Weiss, and to those who helped me co-ordinate the trip to Jordan including Prof. Dr Emad Al-Karablieh, Prof. Dr Amer Salman, and especially Mohammad Shadfan for his continued support, hospitality and help in the field in Jordan. I thank Dr Mark Bilton for the engaging scientific discussions on the experimental design of chapter 2. I thank Dr Michal Gruntman for being available to meet me for scientific discussions whilst Katja was on sabbatical. I thank Giani Gangloff and Dr Lorenz Henneberg for their help with preparing the plants for glucosinolate analysis, I thank Margret Ecke for helping me with the seed viability tests. I thank Viktoria Ferenc for conducting a superb Master's thesis experiment and for the stimulating scientific discussions. I thank Prof. Dr Caroline Müller and Karin Djendouci at the University of Bielefeld for analysing the leaf samples for glucosinolate concentration. I thank Dr Pierre Liancourt and Dr Maria Majekova for the stimulating discussions on my fourth chapter and to Dr Jan Ruppert for his advice on statistics at the eleventh hour. Thanks to Dr Peter Kern for reading my chapter drafts and offering sound advice. Thanks to Dr Maxi Herberich for your help and advice on the thesis submission process. I would like to thank the German Research Foundation (DFG) for financial support in the priority programme SPP 1529 Adaptomics phases 1 and 2 (TI338-11-1 and TI338-11-2). I am blessed and humbled by the support and encouragement shown to me by my four pillars of support: Dr Korinna Allhof, Dr Nils Anthes, Giani Gangloff, and Dr Lorenz Henneberg, thank you for believing in me when I could not and for giving me strength to finish. Finally, thank you Mum and Alex for the continual support; Dad, for reminding me what's important in life; (Dr) Colin, for showing me the path I'm on need not be scary; the rest of my dear family and friends for your unfaltering encouragement; Sabine Stark-Feger whose wisdom and guidance came at the right time; Dr Clara Nesongano, you are my inspiration and my sister; and to My Genius, Bambino.

Thank you all.

Contents

Ab	stract	III
Kui	zfassung	V
Acł	nowledgements	.VII
De	claration of own contribution	XI
List	of Figures	.XII
List	of Tables	XIII
1.	Chapter 1 - Introduction	1
	1.1. Plant-animal interactions	1
	1.2. Plant mating systems	2
	1.3. Plant defence systems	5
	1.4. Eastern Mediterranean Basin	8
	1.5. Brassicaceae family	9
	1.6. Thesis objective and outline	11
2.	Chapter 2 – Investigating the dependency of plant reproductive success on pollinator activity	y: a
	field approach	.13
	2.1. Introduction	.14
	2.2. Materials and methods	.16
	2.3. Results	.21
	2.4. Discussion	.27
	2.5. Conclusions	.31
3.	Chapter 3 – Self-compatibility as a plant adaptation to limited pollinator services: a mechanic	stic
	approach	32
	3.1. Introduction	33

	3.2. Materials and methods	36
	3.3. Results	41
	3.4. Discussion	49
	3.5. Conclusions	52
4.	Chapter 4 - Increasing rainfall selects for greater herbivore pressure and investment into	specific
	plant defence compounds	54
	4.1. Introduction	55
	4.2. Materials and methods	58
	4.3. Results	63
	4.4. Discussion	73
	4.5. Conclusions	77
5.	Chapter 5 – Discussions and Conclusions	78
	References	84
	Appendix	96
	CV	103

Declaration of my own working contribution to the present thesis

The present thesis is based on the work I carried out in the field in Israel, Palestine and Jordan and in the greenhouse in Germany during my PhD. Throughout the course of this research I was advised by my supervisor Prof. Dr Katja Tielbörger.

I designed each experiment together with my supervisor, Prof. Dr Katja Tielbörger, and I performed all practical work, data analysis, and writing, except for: Dr Merav Seifan helped with the experimental design and statistics in the second chapter; Viktoria Ferenc performed the hand-pollination experiment in the third chapter; Prof. Dr Caroline Müller and Karin Djendouci at the University of Bielefeld performed the glucosinolate analysis in the fourth chapter; and all commented on drafts of the chapters they were involved in, *i.e.*, Prof. Dr Katja Tielbörger commented on chapters 2, 3, and 4; Dr Merav Seifan commented on chapter 2; Viktoria Ferenc commented on chapter 3; Prof. Dr Caroline Müller commented on chapter 4.

List of Figures

2.1	Overall pollinator activity and diversity along the rainfall gradient22
2.2	Pollinator visits to each target species along the rainfall gradient24
2.3	Seed production and seed viability of each target species along the rainfall gradient26
3.1	Schematic diagram of pollination manipulation experimental design
3.2	Seed production in each species originating from sites along the rainfall gradient42
3.3	Self-compatibility index for the absolute number of seeds produced in each species45
3.4	Self-compatibility index for the proportion of viable seeds produced in each species46
3.5	Self-compatibility index for the number of viable seeds produced in each species47
4.1	Leaf damage by herbivory observed in the field along the rainfall gradient65
4.2	Glucosinolate concentrations in each species originating from the rainfall gradient
4.3	Concentrations of glucosinolate classes in <i>H. incana</i> originating from the rainfall gradient70
4.4	Relationship between leaf damage by herbivory and concentrations of glucosinolates72

List of Tables

2.1	Location and environmental conditions of four sites along the rainfall gradient in Israel17
2.2	Statistical results for the effects of site and treatment on seed production and viability27
3.1	Location and environmental conditions of the origin sites in Israel
3.2	Statistical results for the effects of site and treatment on seed production43
3.3	Statistical results for the effects of rainfall on self-compatibility48
4.1	Location and environmental conditions of 12 sites in Israel, Palestine and Jordan60
4.2	Statistical results for the effect of rainfall on leaf damage by herbivory
4.3	Statistical results for the effect of rainfall on concentration of glucosinolates

Chapter 1 Introduction

This thesis sets out to investigate the adaptations in plant mating systems and plant defence mechanisms in response to variation in pollinator activity and herbivory pressure along a rainfall gradient. In this introduction chapter, I provide the context for each of these topics (see contents) before ending the chapter by explaining the specific goals of my thesis research.

1.1. Plant-animal interactions

Most animals that directly interact with plants are insects, typically insect pollinators and herbivores (Herrera and Pellmyr, 2009). Consequently, both mutualist and antagonistic plant-animal interactions can occur (Travis, 1996; Thompson, 1988; Johnson et al., 2015). Plant-pollinator interactions provide a beneficial service to the plant because pollinators move pollen between plant individuals within a population and increase the rate of cross-fertilisation (Lloyd, 1992; Harder and Barrett, 1996). The diversity of plant-pollinator interactions provides numerous selection pressures that drive variation in plant mating systems, often in opposite directions (Barrett and Harder, 1996; Barrett, 2002; Barrett, 2010a; Barrett, 2010b; Barrett and Harder, 2017). Many angiosperm plant species have evolved self-incompatibility mechanisms to prevent inbreeding depression, whilst others have evolved self-compatibility to provide reproductive assurance when there is a risk of reproductive failure (Lloyd, 1979; Barrett, 1988; Lloyd, 1992; Pannell and Barrett, 1998; Barrett, 2003; Barrett et al., 2014).

Plant-herbivore interactions are typically disadvantageous to the plant because it can damage the plant by biomass loss. Plant-herbivore interactions perpetuate a so-called 'arms-race' between plant defence strategies and herbivore activity (Agrawal, 2011; Agrawal et al., 2012). Plant species have evolved a variety of defence strategies to protect themselves from herbivores, including chemical defences derived from secondary plant metabolites and mechanical defences, such as leaf toughness, thorns, and trichomes (Rhoades, 1979; Stamp, 2003; Rasmann et al., 2014; Agrawal et al., 2015; Agrawal and Weber, 2015).

Plants-animal interactions are influenced by local abiotic conditions (Thompson, 1988; Travis, 1996; Sotka and Hay, 2002; Menge, 2003; Sotka et al., 2003). This can select for clinal trends in plant-animal interactions over small spatial scales, and between populations of a single plant species, resulting in intraspecific variation in these interactions (Pratt and Mooney, 2013; Anderson et al., 2015). Geographic variation in plant-animal interactions within a species can result in adaptations in both plants and their associated animals to the local conditions (e.g. Thompson, 1988; Sotka and Hay, 2002; Sotka et al., 2003; Pennings et al., 2009). Whilst this may provide optimal fitness for plants under relatively constant conditions, plant populations may suffer as the climate changes (Sala et al., 2000). At present, it remains uncertain whether climate change will decrease the abundance of pollinators and herbivores and whether this will select for reproductive assurance (chapter 2), increasing selfcompatibility (chapter 3), and the production of chemical defences (chapter 4) within populations of plant species (Barrett and Harder, 2017; Hargreaves and Eckert, 2014; Pennings et al., 2009; Hahn and Maron, 2016).

1.2. Plant mating systems

Many plant species are hermaphroditic, which means that both sex organs are housed within a single flower. Thus, hermaphroditic plants have the potential to fertilise their own ovules (selfing). Ubiquitous advantages of self-fertilisation include full gene transmission compared to crossfertilisation (Nagylaki, 1976) and the ability to produce offspring should pollinators or mates be absent (Baker, 1955). Yet, offspring produced by self-fertilisation may experience lower fitness than offspring produced by cross-fertilisation and thus the advantage of self-fertilisation is traded-off against the negative effect of inbreeding depression (Jain, 1976; Lande and Schemske, 1985; Schemske and Lande, 1985; Charlesworth and Charlesworth, 1987). Furthermore, self-fertilisation over many generations can lead to loss of genetic variability at the population level (Charlesworth et al., 1993; Charlesworth, 2003).

The trade-off between self-fertilisation and the loss of genetic variability has led to the evolution of self-incompatibility mechanisms in up to 60% of hermaphroditic plant species (Bateman, 1955; Lloyd, 1965; Barrett, 1988; Hiscock and Kües, 1999; Hiscock and Tabah, 2003; Barrett, 2010a). Self-incompatibility mechanisms, both gametophytic and sporophytic self-incompatibility, are genetically controlled by the *S*-locus gene (Barrett, 1988). Gametophytic self-incompatibility is the most common mechanism in angiosperm plant species and sporophytic self-incompatibility is uncommon and known only in a few families, namely *Asteraceae*, *Brassicaceae* and *Compositae* (Bateman, 1955; Lloyd, 1965; Reinartz and Les, 1994). Genetically controlled self-incompatibility mechanisms prevent self-pollen from accessing the ovule because it is recognized as self-pollen on the stigma and its germination and pollen tube growth is inhibited (Bateman, 1955; Shivanna et al., 1978; Barrett, 1988; Hiscock and Tabah, 2003).

Loss-of-function mutations in the S-locus gene can result in the self-incompatibility mechanism becoming leaky, or being switched off completely which may result in viable offspring produced by self-fertilisation (Nasrallah et al., 2002; Levin, 1996). The break-down of self-incompatibility mechanisms and the subsequent increase in successful self-fertilisation can be selected for under conditions that limit cross-pollination (Lloyd, 1965; Reinartz and Les, 1994; Goodwillie, 2001). Securing reproduction by self-fertilisation in environments where cross-pollination is unlikely is called reproductive assurance (Lloyd, 1992). The selective pressures for the evolution of reproductive assurance include low mate abundance and low pollinator abundance within the local environment (Charlesworth and Charlesworth, 1979; Vallejo-Marín and Uyenoyama, 2004; Porcher and Lande, 2005).

Scarcity of mates can limit outcrossing success because low density plant patches attract fewer pollinators than high density patches (Fausto et al., 2001). Additionally, low mate density reduces the proportion of conspecific pollen relative to heterospecific pollen present on the stigma (Feinsinger, 1987; Ashman et al., 2004). Scarcity of pollinators can limit the transfer of pollen and can increase the

rate of self-fertilisation within the plant (Ashman et al., 2004). Increased self-fertilisation as a result of pollinator foraging behaviour can result from geitonogamous selfing, where the pollinator visits numerous flowers on the same plant sequentially and transfers pollen between flowers on the same plant individual, or from facilitated selfing, where the pollinator transfers pollen within the same flower on the same individual (Lloyd, 1992; Eckert, 2000; Barrett, 2003). Consequently, self-fertilisation may be selected in plant populations even if the density of mates is high (Harder and Barrett, 1996; Wilcock and Neiland, 2002). Low abundances of pollinators and mates frequently occur in harsh environments, such as high altitude, high latitude and arid regions (Noy-Meir, 1973; Greenslade, 1983; Kearns, 1992; Ashman et al., 2004; Devoto et al., 2009). Furthermore, when plants colonise new environments either by invasion or by long-distance dispersal there may be low abundances of conspecific mates and their associated pollinators (Baker, 1955; Busch and Schoen, 2008; Petanidou et al., 2012; Razanajatovo et al., 2016).

Whilst reproductive assurance occurs only in self-compatible plant species, not all self-compatible plant species secure their reproduction by self-fertilisation. The classical theory predicts that self-compatible species reproduce either by outcrossing or by selfing (Lloyd, 1992). Many empirical studies have shown, however, that the bimodal distribution predicted by theory is rarely seen in the natural environment (reviewed in Goodwillie et al., 2005; Razanajatovo et al., 2016). Rather, self-compatibility is a quantitative trait that can be measured, for example, by calculating self-compatibility indices (Lloyd and Schoen, 1992). From this, self-compatible species then span a continuum of reproductive modes. Reproduction can occur by i) predominantly outcrossing because incompatibility is maintained by spatial and temporal separation of ripe anthers and stigmas, despite a breakdown in the self-incompatibility mechanism (reviewed in Barrett, 2010b), ii) a mixture of outcrossing and selfing (mixed mating), because selfing is delayed and occurs only when outcrossing is unlikely (reviewed in Goodwillie et al., 2005), or iii) predominantly selfing, because there is no structural or temporal separation within the floral unit and because selfing can occur before and during anthesis (Lloyd, 1979; 1992).

In summary, it remains uncertain whether selection for reproductive assurance is more common with increasing environmental harshness (Hargreaves and Eckert, 2014), whether stress induced by climate change can select for the evolution of selfing (Barrett and Harder, 2017), whether populations of a single species can increase their self-compatibility in response to increasing aridity and whether selfing to assure reproduction in such environments is advantageous (Cheptou and Massol, 2009; Barrett et al., 2014).

1.3. Plant defence systems

Plant populations exhibit large geographic variation in plant defences that affects palatability to herbivores. It remains unclear, however, whether this variation is caused in response to different environmental conditions or because herbivore pressure changes in the different locations (Pennings et al., 2009). On the one hand, plant metabolic activity is directly affected by environmental variation and thus resources available for herbivore defence are directly limited by the local environment (Rasmann et al., 2014). On the other hand, the abundance and activity of insect herbivores is directly affected by environmental variation because insect herbivores are ectotherms (Novotny et al., 2005; Rodríguez-Castañeda et al., 2010). Therefore, under varying environmental conditions, herbivore abundance and plant herbivore defences are expected to form clines (Rasmann et al., 2014). Consequently, a wealth of theories has been developed to explain the interspecific and intraspecific variation in plant herbivore defence.

Early theoretical studies concentrated on the physiological costs involved in the production of defences by correlating the costs and benefits of defence to plant fitness parameters such as growth or reproduction (van der Meijden, 1996). The resource allocation hypothesis (also known as the optimal defence theory) posits that the cost of producing defence chemicals in low-resource environments is less than the cost of replacing biomass lost to herbivory and so consequently plant fitness increases with increasing defence concentrations in low-resource environments and *vice versa* in high-resource environments (Coley et al., 1985). The plant stress hypothesis posits that plants with

limited resources are more palatable to herbivores than plants with sufficient resources because plants under environmental stress increase the amount of nitrogen available in their tissues (White, 1984). The plant vigour hypothesis directly contradicts this suggestion by proposing that vigorous plants, by virtue of containing so many nutrients, are more palatable to herbivores and thus herbivore pressure is greater on vigorous rather than stressed plants (Price, 1991). The carbon-nutrient hypothesis posits that more resources are invested into defence when the environment limits growth more than it limits photosynthesis. This is because carbon is more readily available than nutrients, making it cheaper to invest in carbon-based secondary metabolites, such as chemical defences, than it is to invest in growth (Bryant et al., 1983). The growth-differentiation balance hypothesis develops this further by incorporating the trade-off between sufficient growth to compete with plant neighbours and sufficient defences to survive herbivore attack (Herms and Mattson, 1992). By incorporating other resource-based hypotheses on intraspecific variation in plant defences, the growth-differentiation balance hypothesis has been regarded as the most advanced hypothesis of its type (Stamp, 2003; Scogings, 2018).

Another explanation for the variation in plant defence concentration, independent of physiological costs to the plant, is the divergent selection pressure that generalist and specialist herbivores exert on the plant (van der Meijden, 1996). Plants are subject to a community of herbivores including both generalist and specialist herbivores. Generalist herbivores are deterred by high concentrations of defence chemicals, whilst specialist herbivores use these defence chemicals as cues to find and identify plants that provide ideal food and oviposition sites (van der Meijden, 1996). Consequently, the contrasting effects of generalist and specialist herbivores can explain the great interspecific and intraspecific variation in plant defence concentrations (van der Meijden, 1996).

Herbivore defence is predominantly a function of plant secondary metabolites (Bazzaz and Grace, 1997; Agrawal and Weber, 2015). Herbivore defences can be expressed constitutively, *i.e.*, permanently throughout a plant's life, and this mode of defence is expected to be favoured in

unpredictable environments and when damage is high (Karban and Baldwin, 1997). Conversely, herbivore defences can be synthesized upon herbivore attack and this temporary induced defence is expected to be favoured when herbivory is high but variable (Karban and Baldwin, 1997). Herbivory is typically measured as herbivore density and as leaf damage across multiple sites ranging along an environmental gradient (Pennings et al., 2009; Anstett et al., 2016). Whilst these methods do not measure natural selection directly, evidence of a strong geographic cline in herbivory can support the hypothesis that geographic variation in herbivory selects for geographic variation in plant defence traits (Pennings et al., 2009). Furthermore, using complementary common-garden environments determines whether plants express constitutive defences and whether this expression is under genetic control (Salgado and Pennings, 2005).

Plant secondary metabolites involved in herbivore defence include condensed tannins (Ward et al., 2011; Moreira et al., 2017a), monoterpenes (Pratt and Mooney, 2013), cardenolides (Agrawal et al., 2015), tropane alkaloids (Castillo et al., 2013), cyanogenic glucosides (Kooyers et al., 2014), phenolics (Abdala-Roberts et al., 2016), and glucosinolates (Wittstock and Halkier, 2002; Halkier and Gershenzon, 2006; Agerbirk and Olsen, 2012; Metz et al., 2014; Tomiolo et al., 2017). Glucosinolate chemicals and their hydrolysis products are detrimental to a wide variety of organisms and are found predominantly in the Brassicales order (Halkier and Gershenzon, 2006; Agerbirk and Olsen, 2012). Glucosinolates share a core structure of thiohydroximates with an S-linked β -glucopyranosyl residue and an O-linked sulphate residue and consist of a variable side chain derived from amino acids (Agerbirk and Olsen, 2012). Based on this amino acid precursor glucosinolates can be classified as methionine-derived (aliphatic glucosinolates), phenylalanine-derived (benzenic glucosinolates) or tryptophan-derived (indole glucosinolates) (Agerbirk and Olsen, 2012). Plants often produce a variety of glucosinolates to ensure survival against a range of herbivores (Müller et al., 2010). Glucosinolates can be constitutively expressed or can be inducible upon herbivore damage (Halkier and Gershenzon, 2006; Hopkins et al., 2009). Upon tissue damage, the enzyme myrosinase is activated and hydrolyses the glucosinolates into glucose and an unstable by-product, such as isothiocyanates and nitriles

(Halkier and Gershenzon, 2006; Agerbirk and Olsen, 2012; Wittstock and Halkier, 2002). These byproducts are known to have anti-feeding, growth inhibition and toxic effects on many generalist herbivores yet can attract specialist herbivores (Halkier and Gershenzon, 2006; Agerbirk and Olsen, 2012).

In summary, because of the complexity of interactions between herbivores and the environment, between plants and the environment, and therefore between herbivores and plants it remains challenging to predict whether the concentration of plant chemical defences increases or decreases along an environmental gradient, especially within a species (Hahn and Maron, 2016).

1.4. Eastern Mediterranean Basin

The Eastern Mediterranean Basin, the landmass east of the Mediterranean Sea, is characterized by a rainfall gradient ranging from mesic-Mediterranean conditions to arid conditions (Black, 2009; Smiatek et al., 2011; Golodets et al., 2013). The region is considered a biodiversity hotspot because of its diverse flora and fauna (Myers et al., 2000). Many plant species are distributed across the rainfall gradient (Golan-Angelko and Bar-Or, 2008) and there is a high species turnover between the mesic-Mediterranean and arid environments (Holzapfel et al., 2006). However, some species, especially in the Brassicaceae family, are distributed across the length of the rainfall gradient, thus populations of these species inhabit a range of environments and experience different environmental selection pressures (Petrů et al., 2006). For example, plant populations inhabiting resource-rich, mesic-Mediterranean conditions are more likely limited by biotic competition whilst populations inhabiting resource-rich, mesic-Mediterranean conditions are most likely limited by rainfall (Golodets et al., 2013). Such divergent selection within a species may result in the different populations becoming locally adapted to their environment, including in their strategies to interact with their associated animals (Thompson, 1988; Travis, 1996; Galloway and Fenster, 2000). This may provide optimal fitness in the current climate, yet plant populations may suffer as the climate changes (Sala et al., 2000).

Climate change models predict increasing global temperatures and changing rainfall patterns globally (IPCC, 2014). Hydric environments are predicted to experience increasing mean annual rainfall, whilst xeric environments are predicted to experience decreasing mean annual rainfall. Furthermore, it is very likely that rain events will become more intense and that these extreme events will become more frequent as global mean surface temperature increases (IPCC, 2014). The Eastern Mediterranean Basin region is particularly vulnerable to climate change because mean annual rainfall in this area is expected to decrease in the order of 20% (Black, 2009; Evans, 2009; Smiatek et al., 2011; Golodets et al., 2013). Indeed, in 2017, unusually dry conditions were widespread in the Mediterranean region and the Eastern Mediterranean was badly affected by drought (WMO, 2018).

Investigating the adaptive potential of plant species to climate change can be achieved using natural rainfall gradients that allow a space-for-time approach (Sternberg et al., 2011). Populations currently inhabiting arid environments may represent the phenotype of populations inhabiting mesic environments in the future as these mesic environments become increasingly arid (Kigel et al., 2011). Any clines found in the traits of plant species distributed along the rainfall gradient can be used as proxies for future changes in plant fitness in response to climate change. Nevertheless, evidence of observed differences in populations currently inhabiting different environments suggests that these plant populations are locally adapted to the current climate (Galloway and Fenster, 2000). Local adaptation may render populations vulnerable to extinction if they are unable to rapidly adapt *in situ* or if they are unable to migrate to more favourable conditions as the climate changes (Peñuelas and Filella, 2001; Walther et al., 2002; Parmesan, 2006; Aitken et al., 2008). The Eastern Mediterranean Basin will likely experience large biodiversity loss should the climate change at a rate faster than species can adapt to increasing aridity (Sala et al., 2000).

1.5. Brassicaceae family

The Brassicaceae family is known globally for hosting a range of important crop species (e.g. *Brassica oleracea, Brassica napus*) and in ecology for hosting the most studied model species (*Arabidopsis thaliana*). The Brassicaceae family is one of the most diverse and abundant families in the Eastern

Mediterranean Basin where many species naturally grow together and many populations are distributed along the rainfall gradient (Boaz et al., 1990). These native species have a common phylogenetic history, a common local history, and are wild relatives of agricultural crops (Boaz et al., 1990; Gupta, 2016). Moreover, the Brassicaceae family contains a diverse range of self-incompatible and self-compatible species (Plitmann, 1993). Furthermore, Brassicaceae species predominantly use glucosinolates as herbivore defences (Halkier and Gershenzon, 2006; Agerbirk and Olsen, 2012). Maintaining these native species and understanding their natural ecology is highly relevant not only for biodiversity and conservation but also for maintaining genetic diversity that can be bred into crop varieties. Taken together, the characteristics of the Brassicaceae family make it a very convenient system for comparing to other studies and make the outcomes of this thesis highly general.

Altogether six species of the Brassicaceae family were used to for the research presented in this thesis: Biscutella didyma (L.), Erucaria pinnata (Viv.) Taeckh. & Boulos, Hirschfeldia incana (L.), Isatis lusitanica (L.), Matthiola livida (Delile) DC., and Sinapis alba (L.). Those species used for investigating plant-pollinator interactions include B. didyma, I. lusitanica and S. alba. Biscutella didyma is classified as self-compatible (Plitmann, 1993) and is distributed from mesic-Mediterranean to arid environments and has a Mediterranean-Irano-Turanian chorotype (Zohary, 1966). Isatis lusitanica is classified as self-incompatible (Plitmann, 1993) and is distributed from mesic-Mediterranean to semiarid environments and has a Mediterranean-Irano-Turanian chorotype (Zohary, 1966). Sinapis alba is classified as self-incompatible (Plitmann, 1993), yet has been shown to successfully produce self-seeds in the absence of pollinators (E. Gibson-Forty, personal observation). Sinapis alba is distributed from mesic-Mediterranean to semi-arid environments and has a European-Siberian-Mediterranean-Irano-Turanian chorotype (Zohary, 1966). Those species used for investigating plant-herbivore interactions include E. pinnata, H. incana, I. lusitanica, M. livida and S. alba. Erucaria pinnata and M. livida are distributed from semi-arid to arid environments and have a Saharo-Arabian chorotype and H. incana is distributed from Mediterranean to arid environments and has a Mediterranean-Irano-Turanian chorotype (Zohary, 1966).

1.6. Thesis objective and outline

The main scope of this thesis was to investigate the intraspecific variation in plant-animal interactions in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin. Specifically, how plant fitness is affected by changes in interactions with pollinators and herbivores across a range of environments. Ultimately the goal of this thesis is to provide evidence on the potential effects of climate change on plant fitness through the interaction with pollinators and herbivores. Such scope was achieved through an integrated approach that investigated how changing climate (changes in rainfall amount along the gradient) influences biotic activity (pollinator activity and herbivore pressure) and how this in turn affects plant reproductive success and investment in chemical defences. The study was carried out during two subsequent years. Herbivore pressure was quantified in the first year in the field and pollinator activity and natural selfing rates of target species were measured in the second year in the field. The degree of target species' self-compatibility was measured in the first year in the greenhouse and the concentrations of glucosinolates in target species was measured in the second year in the greenhouse and in the laboratory.

First, I examined 1) whether pollinator abundance and diversity decreased with increasing aridity and 2) whether this selected for reproductive assurance in three Brassicaceae species: *B. didyma*, *I. lusitanica*, and *S. alba* (chapter 2). Second, I investigated whether populations of two Brassicaceae species (*B. didyma* and *S. alba*) have adapted to increasing arid environments by evolving greater self-compatibility (chapter 3). Third, I investigated the relationship between leaf damage by herbivory and investment into plant chemical defence along the rainfall gradient (chapter 4). Finally, I discuss the evidence from the three chapters together, draw conclusions from this research and consider the effects that climate change may have on plant performance in general in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin (chapter 5). For the purposes of independent reading of single topics, each chapter was written individually, consequently some background information is repeated for the readers' convenience. The results of this research are highly relevant to predicting the long-term consequences of climate change on plant fitness because I used a multispecies approach to increase taxonomic replication

enabling more general and realistic conclusions to be made than from single species studies. Furthermore, the combined approach using controlled greenhouse conditions with field observations and experiments in the natural environment allows my experimental findings to be related to realworld patterns.

Chapter 2 Investigating the dependency of plant reproductive success on pollinator activity: a field approach

Self-fertilisation in plants is a common strategy that has evolved in response to lack of pollinators or mates. Because the abundance of mates and potential pollinators are often reduced under resource limitation, it is predicted that plants depend more on self-fertilisation as a mechanism of reproductive assurance under stressful environmental conditions. Compared with the wealth of theoretical studies on the topic, relatively few studies have tested this prediction in the field. Moreover, field studies were usually performed for a single species, which hampers our ability to generalize. Here, I used three species from the Brassicaceae family growing together along a steep rainfall gradient, ranging from mesic-Mediterranean (950mm mean annual rainfall) to arid (90mm mean annual rainfall) conditions. I hypothesised that pollinator abundance and diversity decrease with increasing aridity and, consequently, that plant reproduction would increasingly rely on selfing with increasing aridity. I first determined whether pollinator abundance and diversity decreased with decreasing rainfall. Second, I excluded pollinators in the field and evaluated the relative reproductive success from self-fertilisation vs. pollinator-mediated outcrossing. I showed that although abundance and diversity of the pollinator community decreased, and the composition of the pollinator community changed with increasing aridity, self-fertilisation decreased in one species, increased in a second species and did not change in a third one. Taken together, these results indicate that, even in very harsh environments, pollinator limitation may not play a dominant role in selecting for self-fertilisation.

2.1. Introduction

Many hermaphroditic flowers have the potential to produce offspring without external pollinating agents. Such autonomous self-pollination (selfing) may be highly advantageous because it promotes the transmission of twice as many gene copies as outcrossing processes (Nagylaki, 1976). However, selfing also increases the risk of inbreeding depression and the expression of deleterious alleles (Jain, 1976; Lande and Schemske, 1985; Schemske and Lande, 1985; Charlesworth and Charlesworth, 1987). Therefore, selfing should be favoured when there is a high probability of ovules remaining unfertilized (Lloyd, 1992) and when inbreeding depression is relatively low (Lande and Schemske, 1985; Schemske and Lande, 1985). The mechanisms that select for selfing are highly relevant for population dynamics not only because they ensure current survival, but because they may affect local adaptation and the capacity to buffer environmental changes (Charlesworth et al., 1993; Charlesworth, 2003; Barrett, 2010a; Levin, 2010; Barrett et al., 2014; Hargreaves and Eckert, 2014; Peterson and Kay, 2015) due to their long-term effect on population genetic diversity (Charlesworth et al., 1993; Charlesworth, 2003; Barrett, 2010a; Levin, 2010; Barrett et al., 2014).

Reproductive assurance through selfing can be promoted by plant population characteristics or by the pollinator community. On the one hand, individuals in a small population are expected to rely more on selfing compared to larger populations due to mate limitation (Charlesworth and Charlesworth, 1979; Griffin and Willi, 2014; Opedal et al., 2016). On the other hand, selfing may also be selected for in habitats with low pollinator abundance and low pollinator diversity because both may decrease the probability and efficiency of gamete transfer between plants (Feinsinger, 1987; Harder and Barrett, 1996; Fausto et al., 2001; Eckert, 2002; Ashman et al., 2004; Arceo-Gómez et al., 2016).

Compared to the wealth of theory around reproductive assurance via selfing (Charlesworth and Charlesworth, 1979; Lande and Schemske, 1985; Lloyd, 1992), sound empirical evidence is relatively rare. Namely, we do not know how common the phenomenon of reproductive assurance is in nature and under which specific ecological conditions reproductive assurance is observed (Hargreaves and

Eckert, 2014). For example, because both plant population size and density, as well as pollinator availability, are strongly correlated with the level of investment in selfing, it was suggested that reproductive assurance will be higher towards species' range margins where both pollinators and mates are rare (e.g. Busch, 2005; Griffin and Willi, 2014). However, the empirical evidence is mixed (Eckert, 2002; Herlihy and Eckert, 2005; Moeller et al., 2012; Koski et al., 2017).

Based on the central role of mate and pollinator limitation in the reproductive assurance hypothesis, environmental gradients provide an ideal system for testing these theoretical predictions. This is because with increasing environmental harshness, plant populations tend to decline in size and density and thus become mate-limited (Levin, 2012; Maron et al., 2014). Similarly, environmental harshness is often correlated with a decrease in pollinator abundance (Devoto et al., 2009; Quintero et al., 2010; Chalcoff and Aizen, 2016) and with limited pollinator services (Hegland and Boeke, 2006; Lázaro et al., 2009). However, here as well, the results are equivocal: some studies report increased selfing with increasing climatic extremes (Evans et al., 2011; Jones et al., 2013), while others show no evidence of increased selfing under environmental stress (Kay and Picklum, 2013). Unfortunately, these studies have also focused on a single species (but see Kay and Picklum, 2013), which furthermore limits our ability to draw general conclusions. Therefore, the question remains open whether selection for reproductive assurance is more common with increasing environmental harshness (Hargreaves and Eckert, 2014).

In order to test the generality of the reproductive assurance hypothesis, I took advantage of the highly diverse Eastern Mediterranean annual-plant communities distributed along a steep rainfall gradient (Tielbörger et al., 2014) and selected three coexisting annual species of the Brassicaceae family. Average density of plants and thus mates decreases towards more arid conditions (Tielbörger et al., 2014), but little is known about pollinator activity. By comparing the reproductive success of the species with and without pollinators, I assessed whether plants increasingly rely on selfing to produce seeds in harsher environmental conditions and whether this tendency is correlated with changes in

the abundance and diversity of the local pollinator communities. Specifically, I tested two hypotheses: 1) pollinator abundance and diversity, which affect pollen transfer probability, will decrease with environmental harshness; and 2) in correlation with the change in pollinator activity, plant selfing rates will increase with environmental harshness.

2.2. Materials and Methods

Study sites

The study was carried out in spring 2017 at four sites located along a steep rainfall gradient in Israel (Table 2.1). These four sites differ approximately ten-fold in average annual rainfall. All sites are situated on the same calcareous bedrock with a south-facing aspect and have similar mean annual temperatures. The length of the growing season is driven predominantly by rainfall; germination of annual species typically begins in October-November, peak flowering is between February and April, and senescence of vegetative biomass occurs around April-May. The growing season is typically shorter in more arid sites (Tielbörger et al., 2014).

I focused on three common annual species from the Brassicaceae family because it is one of the most diverse families in the region with many very abundant species, increasing the generality of my conclusions (Boaz et al., 1990). The study species were selected based on the following criteria: i) they are abundant and occur in at least three of the four study sites; ii) they have hermaphroditic, showy flowers; iii) they are large enough to enable pollinator exclusion in the field; and iv) they all have an overlapping peak-flowering time between February and March. Furthermore, each of the three species have been described to differ in their ability to self: *Biscutella didyma* (L.) occurs from the mesic-Mediterranean to the arid region, is self-compatible, and is known to reproduce successfully by self-fertilisation in the absence of pollinators (Plitmann, 1993; Tielbörger et al., 2012); *Isatis lusitanica* (L.) and *Sinapis alba* (L.) occur from the mesic-Mediterranean to the semi-arid region. The two species are classified as self-incompatible (Plitmann, 1993), but both may exhibit a mixed strategy and are capable of selfing, albeit at a much lower rate than *B. didyma* (E. Gibson-Forty, *personal observation*).

Table 2.1: Location and environmental conditions of sites along the gradient (Holzapfel et al., 2006;Kurze et al., 2017).

	Arid	Semi-arid	Mediterranean	Mesic-Mediterranean
Site name	Sde Boker	Lahav	Matta	Harashim
Coordinates	N30°52' E34°46'	N31°23' E34°51'	N31°42' E35°3'	N32°57' E35°19'
Mean annual rainfall	90 mm	300 mm	540 mm	950 mm

Pollinator activity observations

I observed pollinator activity and approximated pollinator abundance as number of visits (Hegland and Boeke, 2006) during peak pollination between March and April 2017. All observations were conducted on days with similar weather conditions (dry and warm), resulting in two observation days per site occurring within 4 days of each other, except the Mediterranean site where access was not possible for a second day during peak pollinator activity.

On each observation day, six 50×50 cm quadrats were distributed across the site (approximately 100 m²) in areas that had at least one target species. This quadrat size was selected because it was large enough to cover a representative sample of conspecific and heterospecific individuals, yet the whole quadrat could be observed continuously.

The following data were recorded in each quadrat: i) the number of pollinator visits to one randomly selected individual of each target species present; ii) the number of pollinator visits to the remaining conspecific individuals; iii) the number of pollinator visits to heterospecific individuals; iv) the total number of all flowers on each of the target species; v) the total number of flowers in the quadrat.

Pollinator activity was observed in each of the six quadrats for three 13 minute rounds in a random order, spread across the day between 09:00 and 16:30. The three sessions were summed to give 39-minutes observation per quadrat per day (method adapted from Seifan et al., 2014). Pollinator activity

observations along the gradient followed the phenology, starting in the arid site and ending in the mesic-Mediterranean site.

During a pollinator activity session, a visit was defined successful when an insect contacted a flower in a manner which could lead to cross-pollination (see Seifan et al., 2014). Owing to the protected status of many pollinators and the nature of the observations, I was unable to identify all visitors to a species level. Instead, pollinator identity was assigned to six groups, representing different functional groups of pollinators: solitary wild bees, hoverflies (Syrphidae), other flies (Diptera), ants (Formicidae), beetles (Coleoptera), and others (see Hegland and Totland, 2012; Seifan et al., 2014). Solitary wild bees were further classified into small (3-7 mm body length), medium (10-25 mm body length) and large (>26 mm body length) because foraging behaviour (e.g. foraging duration and range) may be determined by body size (Gathmann and Tscharntke, 2002; Arianoutsou-Faraggitaki and Groves, 2012).

Autonomous selfing

To quantify self-compatibility and the level of selfing in the target species, I excluded pollinators from forty randomly selected plants for each species per site. A single branch (typically the main stem) was selected on each individual plant and any open flower was removed. The branch was enclosed in a fine-mesh bag that permitted light and airflow but prevented insects from approaching (see similar protocols in Kron et al., 1993; Jacobs et al., 2009; Hargreaves et al., 2015). To compare the success of seed production by autonomous selfing with seed production by pollinator-mediated outcrossing, I selected a second individual plant that grew in close physical vicinity to the pollinator-excluded plants (5-10 cm distance) and I chose a single branch that fitted the same developmental stage as its pollinator-excluded neighbour, marked it and removed all opened flowers (pollinator exposure treatment). After a month, when the flowering season was over, the branch in the pollinator exposure treatment was enclosed in a fine-mesh bag to minimize differences in developmental conditions between the pollinator exclusion and exposure treatments, and to facilitate fruit and seed collection. At the end of the growing season (May 2017 at the arid site, June at the mesic-Mediterranean site) I collected the branches and counted the number of fruits that developed on each branch, distinguishing between fruits bearing seeds and empty fruits (*i.e.*, flowers that failed to produce a fruit). In addition, I harvested the entire plant and measured its dry-weight biomass after 24 h in an oven at 70 °C.

To estimate the potential effects of site and pollinators on plant reproductive success, I first estimated the number of seeds produced per branch for each plant individual per treatment and site. For *I. lusitanica,* that produces only one seed per fruit, this was estimated as the number of seed-bearing fruits. For *B. didyma,* that produces two seeds per fruit, I estimated seed production by multiplying the number of seed bearing fruits by two. For *S. alba,* that produces a variable number of seeds per fruit, I estimated the number of seeds produced by dividing the total number of seeds per branch by the number of seed-bearing fruits on this branch (brood size *sensu* Wiens, 1984). I then calculated, for each of the species, the relative seed production, as the proportion of seeds produced out of the number of flowers on the sampled branch (seed: ovule ratio; Wiens et al., 1987). Note, that while selfing can be directly derived from the reproductive success in the pollinator exclusion treatment, the pollinator exposure treatment represents reproductive success from both outcrossing and potential selfing. Nevertheless, I use the pollinator exposure treatment to provide indirect evidence of the reliance of plant reproductive success on pollinator-mediated outcrossing. That is, small differences in seed production between the two treatments suggests limited reliance on outcrossing, whilst large differences suggest substantial reliance on outcrossing.

I further tested for seed viability, because self-compatibility is not only expressed as the number of seeds but also in their quality, *i.e.*, the existence of a viable embryo (Metsare et al., 2015). All of the seeds produced were stored in a glasshouse at Tübingen, Germany, to over-summer. In October 2017, the seeds were sown on wet filter paper in petri dishes that were well irrigated before sealing and the number of germinated seeds was counted until no more seeds germinated. Because non-germinated

seeds may be dormant, I pierced the seed coat of all non-germinated seeds with a needle to expose the embryo (Pake and Venable, 1996). The proportion of viable seeds out of the total number of seeds produced was calculated as the number of germinated and embryo-bearing seeds out of the total seeds.

Statistical analysis

I assessed the change in total number of pollinator visits per flower across sites using a generalised linear model (GLM) with gamma distribution (inverse link). The number of pollinator visits per flower was calculated as the number of pollinator visits to a target individual divided by the number of flowers on that target. Because I assumed that the number of neighbouring flowers affects pollinator activity (Hegland and Boeke, 2006), I tested for the additional potential effects of conspecific and total number of flowers per quadrat using model selection based on AICc values. I further calculated the number of pollinator visits per flower for each target species separately and tested, in a similar fashion, the effects of site and neighbouring flower numbers using GLM with gamma distribution (inverse link). I also calculated species richness and Shannon-Wiener diversity of the visiting pollinator community and analysed them as a function of site using GLM with normal distribution (identity link).

I further tested, for each species separately, whether the relative seed production and seed viability changed across sites using a normal distribution (log link) and binomial distribution (logit link), respectively. I used as explanatory factors the pollinator exclusion treatment (exclusion of *vs*. exposure to pollinators), the site and their interactions. I additionally checked for the contribution of the individual plant biomass as a covariate in these models based on AICc values, but as it did not contribute to the models, plant biomass was dropped from the presented results.

In cases of significant differences among sites, I applied Tukey post-hoc multiple comparisons. All statistics were carried out in R version 3.3.1 (R Core Team, 2016) with packages 'Lsmeans' (Lenth, 2016) and 'Vegan' (Oksanen, 2017).

2.3. Results

Pollinator activity

Overall, the number of pollinator visits to the observed quadrats decreased towards the arid site ($\chi_3^2 = 33.25$; P < 0.001; Fig. 2.1a). In addition, total visits to the quadrats were significantly affected by the number of overall flowers growing in them (Appendix Fig. A1, Tables A1-2).

Simultaneously, the pollinator community was significantly richer and more diverse towards the mesic-Mediterranean site (species richness: $F_{3,28} = 8.42$; P < 0.001; species diversity: $F_{3,28} = 7.19$; P < 0.001; Appendix Table A3). Specifically, beetles were the dominant floral visitors in the arid, semi-arid and Mediterranean sites, whilst in the mesic-Mediterranean site, medium and large wild bees were the dominant visitors (Fig. 2.1b).



Figure 2.1: a) total number of pollinator visits to quadrats ($\overline{X} \pm SE$) along the rainfall gradient. Different letters represent significant differences using Tukey multiple comparisons. b) morphospecies composition of pollinators visiting flowers of target species along the rainfall gradient. Within site, the different colours represent the relative percentage of visits by the different groups of pollinators. Colours represent the pollinator groups: pink = small wild bees; brown = medium wild bees; orange = large wild bees; grey = hoverflies; green = other flies; purple = ants; blue = beetles; white = other. Med = Mediterranean site; mesic-Med = mesic-Mediterranean site. When analysing visitation rates for each of the target species separately the trends were less clear. In the case of *B. didyma*, whilst the factor site improved the statistical model (Appendix Table A1), it had no significant effect on pollinator visits to flowers ($\chi_3^2 = 7.08$; P = 0.069; Fig. 2.2). Instead, the number of *B. didyma* flowers in the quadrat had a significant effect on the number of pollinators visiting the plant ($\chi_1^2 = 10.57$; P = 0.001), but the effect was negative (Appendix Table A2).

The rate of pollinator visits to *I. lusitanica* was significantly different across sites ($\chi_2^2 = 8.14$; *P* = 0.017), with the most visits observed in the Mediterranean site (Fig. 2.2, Appendix Tables A1-2). Visits to *S. alba* were significantly affected by both site ($\chi_2^2 = 19.98$; *P* < 0.001) and the number of *S. alba* flowers in the quadrat ($\chi_1^2 = 9.00$; *P* = 0.003; Appendix Tables A1-2). Specifically, visits to *S. alba* decreased with aridity (Fig. 2.2) and with decreased flower number (Appendix Table A2).


Figure 2.2: Number of pollinator visits to the target species ($\overline{X} \pm SE$) along the rainfall gradient. Different letters represent significant differences using Tukey multiple comparisons. Med = Mediterranean site; mesic-Med = mesic-Mediterranean site.

Autonomous selfing: Relative seed production per flower

Site had a significant effect on relative seed production of *B. didyma* (Table 2.2), so that, overall, seed production was higher at the mesic-Mediterranean site relative to the other sites (Fig. 2.3a). Additionally, a significant interaction between site and pollinator treatment was detected. Namely, seed production was significantly greater in the pollinator exclusion treatment than the exposure treatment in the arid site, while pollinator exclusion had no clear effect in the other sites.

In the case of *I. lusitanica*, only the pollinator exclusion treatment had a significant effect, decreasing the number of seeds produced (Fig. 2.3b, Table 2.2). Pollinator exclusion was also the only significant treatment in the case of *S. alba* (Table 2.2). However, in this case, the multiple comparison test revealed a significant trend of decreased seed production towards the mesic-Mediterranean site when flowers were exposed to pollinators (Fig. 2.3c). Additional information may be found in the Appendix Fig. A2, Tables A4-7.

Seed viability

Overall, all the produced seeds were viable in a similar, relatively high, proportion. The multiple comparison test revealed a significant reduction in viability in the case of *B. didyma* in the semi-arid site (Fig. 2.3d, Table 2.2). Exclusion of pollinators significantly reduced seed viability in *S. alba* (Fig. 2.3f, Table 2.2). Site and the interaction between site and treatment had no significant effect on the viability of the seeds produced by any of the target species (Fig. 2.3d-f, Table 2.2).



Figure 2.3: Relative seed production and seed viability of the produced seeds ($\overline{X} \pm SE$) per target species along rainfall gradient: a, d) relative seed production and seed viability for *B. didyma*; b, e) relative seed production and seed viability for *I. lusitanica*; c, f) relative seed production and seed viability for *S. alba*. Dark grey bars = pollinator exclusion treatment, light grey bars = pollinator exposure treatment. Different letters represent significant differences using Tukey multiple comparisons. Med = Mediterranean site; mesic-Med = mesic-Mediterranean site.

Table 2.2: Statistical results from the GLM models for each study species, testing for the effects of site, pollinator treatment (exclusion from *vs.* exposure to pollinators) and their interaction on relative seed production per flower and seed viability. Bold: P-values <0.001; **: 0.01>P-values >0.001; *: 0.05>P-values >0.01. The coefficient information for the models can be found in the Appendix (Tables A4-6).

		Site	Treatment	Site × Treatment
		Wald $\chi^2(df)$	Wald $\chi^2(df)$	Wald $\chi^2(df)$
Relative seed production	B. didyma	19.713(3)	0.506(1)	12.066(3)**
	I. lusitanica	1.050(2)	16.430(1)	0.092(1)
	S. alba	0.943(2)	14.899(1)	0.435(2)
Seed viability	B. didyma	0.812(3)	0.704(1)	0.897(3)
	I. lusitanica	0.911(2)	0.392(1)	0.373(1)
	S. alba	0.656(2)	0.048(1)	0.171(2)

2.4. Discussion

Overall, this study shows that the abundance and diversity of the visiting pollinator community decreased along the rainfall gradient. However, these observations were not necessarily correlated with visitation rate to the target species and were not correlated with an increase in the plant species' reliance on selfing. Thus, our study does not unequivocally support the reproductive assurance hypothesis (Lloyd, 1992).

The overall decrease in pollinator abundance with increasing aridity followed our initial prediction and was accompanied by a decrease in pollinator diversity. This was mainly created by the unique presence of large solitary wild bees and hoverflies in the more mesic habitats, similar to observations in other Mediterranean regions (Moeller et al., 2012). These observed changes in the pollinator community may be caused by direct and indirect resource limitation. For example, water shortage may directly limit many stages of the insect life cycle, such as oviposition (Hegland and Boeke, 2006), feeding, mating, nesting, and pupation (Devoto et al., 2009). Furthermore, fewer and less predictable rain

events in arid environments (Holzapfel et al., 2006) may indirectly limit pollinator abundance because extended time periods between rain events may reduce the quantity of nutritional resources for pollinators (Ghazoul, 2005). While I do not have direct evidence for a reduction in plant density along the studied gradient, previous studies in the region suggested such a trend (Holzapfel et al., 2006; Petrů et al., 2006; Tielbörger et al., 2014). Therefore, I suggest that not only the pollinator community changed along the gradient, but also the number of potential mates was reduced towards the arid edge of the target species' range.

Surprisingly, I found that neither pollinator abundance and diversity, nor the potential reduction in plant density, along the rainfall gradient were clearly correlated with a change in reproductive assurance. In particular, only in the case of *B. didyma* did I detect a reduction in overall seed production along the aridity gradient, in addition to indications for higher seed production by selfing in the most arid site. However, because there was no reduction in the pollinator visitation rate to *B. didyma* toward the arid region, these findings might not be a direct product of the shift in pollinator services, though they might indicate an effect of mate limitation. Similarly, in the case of *I. lusitanica*, a species that seems to rely almost exclusively on external pollination (Plitmann, 1993), no correlation between pollinator abundance and seed production was detected. Finally, in the case of *S. alba*, I found a negative correlation between the change in pollinator visitation rate and the relative seed production along the aridity gradient. My findings are in concordance with a case study from the lberian Peninsula that showed a mismatch between pollinator services and investment in selfing along plant distribution ranges (Herrera et al., 2001). In particular, similar to my findings with *S. alba*, Herrera et al. (2001) found that in the case of *Helleborus foetidus*, the highest investment in self-pollination was found in the region in which pollinator services were the greatest.

The theoretical benefits of selfing in response to unpredictable pollinator environments and limited mate options have been intensively studied (Herlihy and Eckert, 2002; Barrett, 2003; Kalisz et al., 2004; Goodwillie et al., 2005; Eckert et al., 2006). However, the empirical evidence supporting the benefits

of selfing in populations of species distributed along environmental gradients has been inconclusive. Recently, Koski et al. (2017) suggested three conditions that are required for reproductive assurance to occur: i) the reproductive system must allow within flower self-pollination; ii) pollen transfer between individuals must limit seed production in natural populations; and iii) selfing must increase seed production in the natural populations. Here, based on previous work on the species and from the present experiment, I could show that these conditions applied in only one of the three species (*B. didyma*) and it was in fact the only species exhibiting a trend towards reproductive assurance. In the case of the other two species, while the first two requirements were satisfied, selfing did not provide an advantage in the form of more seeds in two of the target species. On the contrary, selfing were also less viable, irrespective of the numbers of pollinators. Therefore, this study adds to the accumulating information that indicates that despite the theoretical appeal, the reproductive assurance hypothesis may not be supported in many plant species when put to test in the field (e.g. Busch, 2005; Herlihy and Eckert, 2005; Eckert et al., 2006; Mable and Adam, 2007; Koski et al., 2017).

Several reasons may explain my results, among them some methodological constraints. For example, plant-pollinator interactions and pollinator diversity and abundance can vary throughout the growing season (CaraDonna et al., 2017; Ogilvie et al., 2017). Therefore, it may be that the period of pollination observations in this study was too short and did not fully reflect the general patterns of pollinator activity. However, with four sites and a clear cline in abundance and diversity, I believe that this problem was minor. A potential stronger limitation to this study may be that I conducted the study in a single year in a region that experiences large inter-annual variation in rainfall amount (Holzapfel et al., 2006; Tielbörger et al., 2014). However, as the annual rainfall in the study year was below average and the annual temperature was above average (WMO, 2018), I believe that this year was representative of the conditions in which reproductive assurance is expected to be a significant process. Therefore, I suggest that the lack of pattern for two species in such a dry year is strong evidence against the existence of reproductive assurance in the system.

Other, more general, reasons may be at the heart of the discrepancy between my results and the theoretical predictions. First, Herrera et al. (2001) suggested that the reproductive assurance theory does not take into account a potential trade-off between the availability of pollinators and individual flower longevity. For example, plants may compensate for low visitation probabilities by increasing flowering duration (e.g. Ashman and Schoen, 1994; Herrera et al., 2001). However, this explanation seems unlikely in my study as the individual flowers of the target species do not survive more than 3 days (E. Gibson-Forty and V. Ferenc, personal observations). Second, it may be that the main determinant of seed production was not the level of selfing per se but a relative constant production of seeds by external pollination transfer. This may be related to the increase in pollinator diversity when the habitat becomes more benign, which may reflect less effective transfer of pollen between conspecifics (Eckert, 2002; Fenster et al., 2004; Benelli et al., 2017). In this system, long-tongued, large, solitary bees frequently visited the target species without landing on the flower (E. Gibson-Forty, personal observation). This behaviour may reduce pollen dispersal efficiency (Fenster et al., 2004). The higher pollinator abundance in the more benign habitat may also have contributed to excessive deposition of viable pollen that may clog the stigma and prevent pollen grain germination and pollen tube growth (Feinsinger, 1987; Plitmann, 1993; Feldman, 2008; Dauber et al., 2010). Finally, reproductive assurance may not necessarily be the main selective force shaping selfing evolution in the target-species. For example, it may be that selfing was developed as a mechanism to incur the costs of seed and pollen discounting, or that the mechanism was shaped by the presence of pathogens, or that selfing may be an unavoidable by-product of selection for outcrossing in species with multiple flower inflorescences (Goodwillie et al., 2005).

The mismatch between pollinator services and selfing ability observed in this study may not only question the reproductive assurance hypothesis but may also be related to the highly variable conditions that are a main feature of arid regions. Namely, many annual plants have adapted to the strong variability and unpredictability of resource availability in drylands by rapidly changing their growth and flowering activities (Crimmins et al., 2013). This may be supported by my finding that each

target species could produce viable seeds via selfing (albeit in different numbers) even though the literature defined two of the species as incompatible (Plitmann, 1993). Moreover, it may be that, in this studied ecosystem, not only the plants, but also the pollinators are highly adapted to environmental cues and are therefore able to flexibly adjust their behaviour and activity to the local conditions (see Minckley et al., 2013). The rapid response of the pollinators may weaken the potential limitation on pollinator services and may allow plant species to maintain a relatively stable reproductive success even in the face of strongly limiting climatic conditions.

2.5. Conclusions

In conclusion, this study joins a body of work that attempts to understand the mechanisms regulating species performance along environmental gradients. Variability in a species' reproductive success is a significant determinant of genetic diversity and evolvability under global change (Pannell and Barrett, 2001; Cheptou and Massol, 2009; Hargreaves and Eckert, 2014). My overall findings suggest that despite decreasing pollinator abundance and diversity, and a change in composition of the pollinator community with increasing environmental harshness, the production of viable seeds from a range of annual plant species remained constant, or even increased. Such reliable seed production despite environmental uncertainties may be part of the mechanism by which plants in arid ecosystems buffer environmental changes.

Chapter 3 Self-compatibility as a plant adaptation to limited pollinator services: a mechanistic approach

Rainfall in dryland ecosystems, particularly the Mediterranean Basin, is predicted to decrease and occur in more unpredictable extreme events as the climate changes. Consequently, plant species must adapt to the increasingly arid environment or risk extinction. Different plant traits have been used to investigate whether dryland plant species can adapt to increasing aridity, ranging from seed dormancy, seed mass, and seed size, to flowering phenology and reproductive allocation. However, determining whether plant species adapt their reproductive strategy in response to increasing aridity, i.e., by increasing their self-compatibility, has been overlooked. Here, we conducted a handpollination experiment using third generation inbred lines of populations originating from four sites along a natural aridity gradient in Israel. We tested whether two species inhabiting increasingly arid environments secure their reproduction by self-fertilisation. I predicted that populations originating from increasingly arid environments would produce more viable seeds through self-fertilisation than populations originating from benign environments. Based on this experimental approach, I could discern each species' natural selfing ability and could compare the success of selfing to outcrossing. Both species use a mixed-mating reproductive strategy, shown by viable seed set from both forced selfing and outcrossing, but with varying degrees of successful seed set by self-fertilisation. Both species produced more seeds by selfing with increasing aridity, suggesting that prezygotic selfincompatibility weakens with increasing aridity. Each species showed different trends in selfcompatibility with respect to viability of the seeds produced. I speculate these differences arise from alternative selection pressures on the mechanism of selfing. This study demonstrates that increasing self-compatibility may help to maintain reproduction in harsh environments but is likely only one of numerous adaptations in reproductive strategies to increasingly arid conditions.

3.1. Introduction

Drylands, such as the Eastern Mediterranean Basin, are considered biodiversity hotspots because they comprise many plant species that have evolved different strategies to cope with water limitations (Myers et al., 2000). However, climate change models predict that drylands will experience reduced rainfall and more unpredictable extreme rainfall events (Smiatek et al., 2011; IPCC, 2013). Consequently, these highly diverse drylands will likely become increasingly arid, rendering those plant species unable to adapt to aridity vulnerable to extinction (Sala et al., 2000).

Typically, studies investigating plant adaptations to arid environments have focused on traits determining plant fitness at different life stages. These traits include seed mass and seed size (e.g. Metz et al., 2015; Bergholz et al., 2017), seedling survival and recruitment (e.g. Volis et al., 2002a; Metz et al., 2010; Siewert and Tielbörger, 2010; Rysavy et al., 2016), flowering phenology, onset of reproduction and reproductive allocation (Aronson et al., 1990; Aronson et al., 1992; Aronson et al., 1993; Volis et al., 2002b; Volis et al., 2002c; Petrů et al., 2006; Liancourt and Tielbörger, 2009; Kigel et al., 2011; Hanel and Tielbörger, 2015), and combinations of these and other traits (e.g. Holzapfel et al., 2006; Schiffers and Tielbörger, 2006; Liancourt et al., 2009; Kurze et al., 2017). Nevertheless, there is a lack of studies considering the adaptive ability of plant species to change their reproductive strategies in response to environments becoming increasingly arid and to pollinators and mates becoming increasingly limited. Annual plants are ubiquitous in drylands (Tielbörger and Salguero-Gómez, 2014) and may contribute significantly to the ecosystem annual net primary productivity (Tielbörger et al., 2014). By virtue of the annual life-cycle strategy, securing reproduction in the face of reproductive uncertainty, *i.e.*, pollinator limitation, is critical to sustaining populations through time (Lloyd, 1992). Many studies have focused on bet-hedging strategies in response to potential reproductive failure, such as seed dormancy and the existence of seed banks (Pake and Venable, 1996; Venable, 2007; Petrů and Tielbörger, 2008; Lampei and Tielbörger, 2010; Tielbörger and Petrů, 2010; Salguero-Gomez et al., 2012; Tielbörger et al., 2012; Gremer et al., 2016; Lampei et al., 2017; Metz et

al., 2018). Yet, no studies have investigated whether limited pollinator services in increasingly arid environments has selected for adaptations in the mode of reproduction in annual plant species.

Assuring reproduction by self-fertilisation when the fertilisation of ovules via outcrossing is uncertain is the basis of the reproductive assurance hypothesis (Lloyd, 1992). Typically, this condition arises when pollinators are limited (Feinsinger, 1987; Harder and Barrett, 1996; Fausto et al., 2001; Ashman et al., 2004) or when conspecific mates are limited (Charlesworth and Charlesworth, 1979; Griffin and Willi, 2014; Opedal et al., 2016). Increasing aridity is likely to limit pollinator abundance and services (Devoto et al., 2009; Hegland and Boeke, 2006; Lázaro et al., 2009; Quintero et al., 2010; Chalcoff and Aizen, 2016) and reduce population size (Levin, 2012; Maron et al., 2014), thereby leaving dryland plant species increasingly at risk of reproductive failure which may select for increasing reliance on self-fertilisation.

Reproduction by self-fertilisation is possible in hermaphroditic flowers but is typically inhibited by selfincompatibility mechanisms to prevent inbreeding depression within the population (Jain, 1976; Lande and Schemske, 1985; Schemske and Lande, 1985; Charlesworth and Charlesworth, 1987). Often, hermaphroditic plants use mixed-mating to assure reproduction, that is, they outcross when the environment is favourable and self when there is a risk of reproductive failure (Goodwillie et al., 2005). Recently some studies have evaluated the effect of climate on plant mating systems and whilst some report extremes in climate are associated with the evolution of self-compatibility (Evans et al., 2011; Jones et al., 2013), others show no evidence of increased selfing under environmental stress (Kay and Picklum, 2013). Therefore, the question of whether stress induced by climate change can select for the evolution of selfing remains open (Barrett and Harder, 2017).

To the best of my knowledge, no studies have investigated whether plant species exposed to increasing aridity in drylands increase their self-compatibility in response, and thus self-fertilise more in increasingly arid environments. On the one hand, increasing self-fertilisation within a population can reduce dispersal capacity, which may select for rapid adaptation to novel conditions *in situ* and

thus populations may be able to buffer environmental change (Cheptou and Massol, 2009; Hargreaves and Eckert, 2014). Yet, on the other hand, increasing self-fertilisation can also reduce population genetic variation and thus limit potential adaptation to changing conditions (Charlesworth et al., 1993; Charlesworth, 2003; Barrett, 2010a; Levin, 2010; Barrett et al., 2014). In summary, it is uncertain whether populations of a single species can increase their self-compatibility in response to increasing aridity and whether selfing to assure reproduction in such environments is advantageous.

Our approach to test whether plant species can adapt to increasing aridity as predicted by climate change, and to the subsequent limited pollinator services, was to use a natural rainfall gradient that encompasses a range of environments from mesic-Mediterranean to arid. The phenotypes of populations inhabiting the present-day arid environment may represent the future phenotype of populations inhabiting mesic environments as these environments become increasingly arid following reduced rainfall (Kigel et al., 2011). By extension, therefore, any clines found in the self-compatibility of plant species distributed along the rainfall gradient can be used as a proxy for changes in reproductive strategies as a result of climate change. Here, we provide a systematic test for the reproductive strategies of two annual plant species distributed along a natural rainfall gradient in Israel. We used Biscutella didyma (L.) and Sinapis alba (L.) from the Brassicaceae family because i) they are present in multiple sites along the aridity gradient, ii) they can produce self-seed when pollination is not possible (E. Gibson-Forty, personal observation) and iii) the number of pollinators known to visit these species declines with increasing aridity (chapter 2), *i.e.*, a prerequisite for increasing selfing is fulfilled. By using third generation inbred lines of populations originating from four sites along the gradient I compared the success of self-fertilisation with increasing aridity. I hypothesised that both species are more self-compatible in increasingly arid environments, that is, the reproductive success of plants in populations originating from increasingly arid environments is less limited by selfing than in populations originating from benign environments.

3.2. Materials and methods

Study sites

The rainfall gradient in Israel ranges from an arid environment in the south to a mesic-Mediterranean environment in the north. Four sites were selected along this gradient that are characteristic of different rainfall regimes (Table 3.1), yet all sites are situated on the same calcareous bedrock, have the same south-facing exposure and they share similar annual temperatures (Holzapfel et al., 2006). The average annual rainfall amount differs approximately nine-fold between the arid and mesic-Mediterranean sites. Inter-annual rainfall variation is greatest and the growing season is shortest in the arid site. Germination of annual species follows the first rainfall, typically between October and November. Seed set and senescence of annual species typically occurs between April and May.

 Table 3.1: Location and environmental conditions of sites along the gradient (modified from Holzapfel et al., 2006).

	Arid	Semi-arid	Mediterranean	Mesic-Mediterranean
Site name	Sde Boker	Lahav	Matta	Ein Ya'akov
Coordinates	N30°52' E34°46'	N31°23' E34°51'	N31°42' E35°3'	N35°0' E35°14'
Mean annual rainfall	90 mm/y	300 mm/y	540 mm/y	780 mm/y

Study species and seed collection

To study whether populations originating from increasingly arid environments have evolved greater self-compatibility than populations originating from benign environments I selected two annual Brassicaceae species, *Biscutella didyma* and *Sinapis alba* distributed along the rainfall gradient. *Biscutella didyma* has been classified as self-compatible (Plitmann, 1993) and is present in all four sites along the gradient. *Sinapis alba* has been classified as self-incompatible (Plitmann, 1993), yet is capable of successfully producing seeds in the absence of pollinators (E. Gibson-Forty, *personal observation*) and is present in the mesic-Mediterranean to the semi-arid sites.

The study material comprised third generation (F3) inbred lines. The F0 seeds of *B. didyma* were collected in 2012 in all four sites along the gradient and the F0 seeds of *S. alba* were collected in 2014 in the mesic-Mediterranean to the semi-arid sites. The subsequent F1 and F2 generations were grown in a greenhouse under standard conditions, optimal water (soil saturation three times per week) and optimal light (10 h light), and temperature regimes that reflected the growing season in Israel (daily temperature range: 18-25 °C, night temperature range: 15-18 °C). Pollinators were excluded by wrapping plants in organza mesh upon first flowering. Seeds from the F2 generation were collected and stored in dark, dry conditions until they were sown for the present study.

Hand pollination experimental design

In November 2016, three to five seeds from 13 individuals per site of *B. didyma* and *S. alba* were sown in 10 x 10 x 10 cm pots in a 1:1 mixture of topsoil and sand and placed randomly in a glasshouse in optimal conditions (see previous description). After successful germination, plants were thinned to one seedling per pot, resulting in a total of 91 plants.

Each plant received two pollination treatments (outcrossing and selfing) and two controls (forced selfing procedural control and spontaneous selfing control). All buds on the branches that received the two treatments were fully emasculated before anthesis by carefully removing all anthers using

forceps. Ripe stigmas in the outcrossing treatment received pollen from a different individual of the same species from the same site (Fig. 3.1, blue arrows). Ripe stigmas in the selfing treatment received pollen from a different flower on the same individual (Fig. 3.1, red arrows). All buds used in the forced selfing procedural control had one anther removed that deliberately contacted the stigma before its removal and, therefore, ripe stigmas received pollen from the same flower on the same individual. No manipulation was applied to the spontaneous selfing control and, therefore, ripe stigmas received pollen from the same flower on the same flower on the same flower on the same individual. The spontaneous selfing control demonstrated the natural capacity of the plants to spontaneously self in the absence of conspecific pollen. Differences between the selfing treatment and the spontaneous selfing control may indicate the presence of prezygotic self-incompatibility (Barrett, 1988), thus providing additional information on the natural mating systems of these species.

The outcrossing and selfing treatments and the forced selfing procedural control were applied to ten buds on separate branches on each individual plant. If less than ten buds were produced on a single branch, then all buds produced were manipulated and the number of buds was recorded. No buds were manipulated in the spontaneous selfing control and this branch was wrapped in organza upon first bud formation and left untouched for the duration of the experiment. A fifth branch was left to develop and the flowers provided pollen to the outcrossing treatment on a different plant and to the selfing treatment on the same plant (Fig. 3.1, donor (d) flowers). Additional branches were removed by cutting the branch at its base with scissors. A pilot study showed that branch removal did not affect fruiting success and that hand-pollination was successful.



Figure 3.1: Schematic of experimental design per species per site. Each plant had 5 branches with a single treatment on each branch: donor flowers provided pollen for flowers in the selfing treatment (s) on the same individual (red arrow) and for flowers in the outcrossing treatment on a different individual (blue arrow), forced selfing procedural control and spontaneous selfing control received pollen from within the same flower (orange arrow) and thus did not receive pollen from a donor. Before flowers opened, all anthers were removed in the selfing treatment and outcrossing treatment and one anther was removed in the forced selfing procedural control. Flowers were not manipulated in the spontaneous selfing control and the branch was wrapped immediately in an organza mesh bag (grey rectangle). The spontaneous selfing control demonstrated the natural capacity for the plant to spontaneously self in the absence of conspecific pollen.

Testing viability

The seeds produced were tested for viability in October 2017 by recording germination. All seeds produced from the outcrossing and selfing treatments and the forced selfing procedural control were germinated and a subsample of 20 seeds produced from the spontaneous selfing control were germinated. A subsample of seeds was used for the spontaneous control to control for the accuracy of the viability ratio because the bud number in the spontaneous selfing control was not limited to ten and consequently more than ten times more seeds were produced compared to the other treatments. A maximum of 20 seeds were sown on wet filter paper in a single petri dish which was well irrigated before sealing. The petri dishes were placed in a glasshouse with a light regime reflecting winter

conditions in the field in Israel (10 h) for 7 days. All germinated seeds were counted and recorded as viable seeds. The seed coat of all non-germinated seeds was pierced with a needle to expose the embryo in order to determine its viability. White fleshy embryos were counted as viable (method adapted from Pake and Venable, 1996).

Self-compatibility index

I used a self-compatibility index derived from Lloyd and Schoen (1992), calculated as the number of seeds produced per flower manipulated from the selfing treatment divided by the number of seeds produced per flower manipulated from the outcrossing treatment. I used this index first for the absolute number of seeds produced. Here, the index was calculated as the absolute number of seeds produced per flower manipulated from the selfing treatment divided by the absolute number of seeds produced per flower manipulated from the selfing treatment divided by the absolute number of seeds produced per flower from the outcrossing treatment. I then used the index for the proportion of viable seeds out of total seeds produced. Here, the index was calculated as the number of viable seeds out of total seeds produced by selfing divided by the number of viable seeds out of total seeds produced by selfing divided by the number of viable seeds produced. Here, the index for the number of viable seeds produced. Here, the index for the number of viable seeds out of total seeds produced by selfing divided by the number of viable seeds out of total seeds produced by selfing divided by the number of viable seeds produced. Here, the index was calculated as the number of viable seeds produced per flower manipulated from the selfing treatment divided by the number of viable seeds produced per flower manipulated from the selfing treatment divided by the number of viable seeds produced per flower from the outcrossing treatment. The index of the absolute number of seeds produced represents the potential reproductive success of the species, whilst the index of the number of viable seeds produced represents the actual reproductive success of the species.

Statistical analysis

To assess whether the manipulation treatments affected the absolute number of seeds produced per flower manipulated in each species I used an ANOVA with the absolute number of seeds produced per flower manipulated as the dependent variable and treatment, site, and their interaction as independent categorical variables. Conformation to the ANOVA assumptions was performed visually as proposed by Zuur et al. (2009). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons were performed for meaningful interactions (*i.e.*, between sites, between treatments within each site, and between the spontaneous control across all sites) and the *P*-values were adjusted using the Tukey method where necessary.

To assess whether populations of *B. didyma* and *S. alba* originating from increasingly arid environments were significantly more self-compatible than populations originating from benign environments, I compared the three indices of self-compatibility as dependent variables against the continuous independent variable rainfall using linear regression models. Conformation to the linear regression assumptions was performed visually as proposed by Zuur et al. (2009). Linear regression models were used first for the absolute number of seeds produced per flower manipulated, second for the proportion of viable seeds out of total seeds produced, and third for the number of viable seeds produced per flower manipulated. All statistical analyses and graphics were performed in R 3.3.1 (R Core Team, 2016) with the package 'multcomp' (Hothorn et al., 2008).

3.3. Results

The population of *B. didyma* originating from the arid site produced significantly fewer seeds overall than populations originating from the semi-arid and mesic-Mediterranean sites (Fig. 3.2, Table 3.2). There was no effect of the manipulation treatment on the number of seeds produced within populations (Fig. 3.2, Table 3.2). Significantly fewer seeds were produced by spontaneous selfing in the population of *B. didyma* originating from the mesic-Mediterranean site than from the populations originating from the mesic-Mediterranean site than from the populations originating from the mesic-Mediterranean site than from the populations originating from the semi-arid and arid sites (Fig. 3.2, Table 3.2).

The site of origin had no significant effect on the total number of seeds produced in *S. alba* (Fig. 3.2, Table 3.2). Populations originating from the semi-arid and Mediterranean sites produced significantly more seeds in the manipulated outcrossing treatment compared to the forced selfing procedural control and spontaneous selfing control (Fig. 3.2, Table 3.2). There was no significant effect of the manipulation treatment in the population originating from the mesic-Mediterranean site. There was no significant effect of site of origin on the production of seeds in the spontaneous selfing control (Fig. 3.2, Table 3.2).



Figure 3.2: the absolute number of seeds produced per flower in *B. didyma* and *S. alba* for each treatment in each site of population origin. Black bars = outcrossing treatment, dark grey bars = selfing treatment, grey bars = forced selfing procedural control, light grey bars = spontaneous selfing control. Capital letters indicate the significant differences in absolute number of seeds per flower produced across sites as a main factor, lower case a/b indicate the significant differences in absolute number of seeds per flower produced between treatments within the same site, lower case x/y indicate the significant differences in absolute number of seeds per flower case x/y indicate the significant differences in absolute number of seeds per flower produced in the spontaneous control across sites, ns indicates no significant difference. Pairwise comparisons were performed using a Tukey post-hoc test. Med= Mediterranean site, mesic.Med= mesic-Mediterranean site.

Table 3.2: Coefficients ± SE for the analysis of the effects of site (arid, semi-arid, Mediterranean and mesic-Mediterranean), treatment (outcrossing, selfing, forced selfing procedural control and spontaneous selfing control) and their interactions on the seed production per flower for *B. didyma* and *S. alba*.

		B. didyma		S. alba	
		$\beta_1 \pm SE$	P-value	$\beta_1 \pm SE$	P-value
	Intercept	1.133±0.113	<0.001	1.100±0.143	<0.001
Site	Semi-arid	0.485±0.163	0.003	N.A.	N.A.
	Med	0.287±0.167	0.088	-0.008±0.198	0.969
	mesic-Med	0.467±0.163	0.005	-0.045±0.207	0.827
Treatment	Selfing	0.142±0.159	0.375	-0.300±0.212	0.161
	Procedural control	0.158±0.159	0.322	-0.845±0.264	0.002
	Spontaneous control	0.334±0.163	0.042	-0.933±0.212	<0.001
Site x Treatment	Semi-arid x selfing	-0.351±0.230	0.130	N.A.	N.A.
	Semi-arid x Procedural control	-0.049±0.231	0.831	N.A.	N.A.
	Semi-arid x Spontaneous control	-0.178±0.236	0.451	N.A.	N.A.
	Med x selfing	-0.122±0.236	0.608	-0.472±0.336	0.164
	Med x Procedural control	-0.118±0.236	0.617	-0.062±0.351	0.861
	Med x Spontaneous control	-0.361±0.239	0.133	-0.120±0.336	0.723
	Mesic-Med x selfing	-0.642±0.230	0.006	-0.388±0.329	0.242
	Mesic-Med x Procedural control	-0.558±0.230	0.017	0.357±0.417	0.394
	Mesic-Med x Spontaneous control	-0.987±0.233	<0.001	0.052±0.386	0.893

The self-compatibility index for the absolute number of seeds produced per flower manipulated in *B. didyma* and *S. alba* increased with the cline of increasing aridity (Fig. 3.3, Table 3.3). There was no cline in the self-compatibility index for the proportion of viable seeds out of total seeds produced along the gradient in either species (Fig. 3.4, Table 3.3), although there was a trend towards decreasing viable seeds with increasing aridity in *S. alba* (Fig. 3.4, Table 3.3). Similarly, there was no cline in the self-compatibility index for the number of viable seeds produced per flower manipulated in either species (Fig. 3.5, Table 3.3), although there was a trend towards increasing self-compatibility of viable seeds per flower in *B. didyma* with increasing aridity (Fig. 3.5, Table 3.3).



Figure 3.3: Self-compatibility index of *B. didyma* and *S. alba* as a cline along the rainfall gradient for absolute number of seeds produced per flower manipulated. The index is calculated as the absolute number of seeds produced per flower manipulated by selfing divided by the absolute number of seeds produced per flower manipulated by selfing divided by the absolute number of seeds produced per flower by outcrossing. The mean annual rainfall ranges from 90 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=12), 300 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=11, *S. alba*: N=12), 540 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=10, *S. alba*: N=11) to 780 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=11, *S. alba*: N=11). The black lines indicate the significant cline in self-compatibility with increasing aridity.



Figure 3.4: Self-compatibility index of *B. didyma* and *S. alba* as a cline along the rainfall gradient for the proportion of viable seeds out of total seeds produced per flower manipulated. The index is calculated as the proportion of viable seeds per total seeds produced by selfing divided by the proportion of viable seeds per total seeds produced by outcrossing. The mean annual rainfall ranges from 90 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=12), 300 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=11, *S. alba*: N=5), 540 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=10, *S. alba*: N=10) to 780 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=11, *S. alba*: N=6).



Figure 3.5: Self-compatibility index of *B. didyma* and *S. alba* as a cline along the rainfall gradient for the number of viable seeds produced per flower manipulated. The index is calculated as the number of viable seeds produced per flower manipulated by selfing divided by the number of viable seeds produced per flower manipulated by selfing divided by the number of viable seeds produced per flower by outcrossing. The mean annual rainfall ranges from 90 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=12), 300 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=11, *S. alba*: N=12), 540 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=10, *S. alba*: N=10) to 780 mm/y (*B. didyma*: N=11, *S. alba*: N=11).

Table 3.3: Test statistics for the effect of mean annual rainfall at the site of origin on the selfcompatibility indices of absolute seed count, proportion of viable seeds, and viable seed count for *B. didyma* and *S. alba*. Separate linear regression models were performed for each species. Increasing self-compatibility with increasing aridity (+), no change in self-compatibility with increasing aridity (0). Coefficients ± SE presented for the intercept (β_0) and rainfall (β_1). The sample size was not the same for each species, resulting in different degrees of freedom in each model. Values in bold highlight the significant results (P < 0.05).

	Self-compatibility indices for					
	Absolute seed count		Proportion of	f viable seeds	Viable seed count	
	B. didyma	S. alba	B. didyma	S. alba	B. didyma	S. alba
R ²	0.146	0.137	0.001	0.091	0.049	0.004
With increasing aridity	+	+	0	0	0	0
$\beta_0 \pm SE$	1.266±0.125	0.929±0.243	1.030±-0.008	0.588±0.302	1.393±0.257	0.494±0.308
$\beta_1 \pm SE$	0.000±0.000	0.000±0.000	0.000±0.000	0.001±0.001	0.000±0.000	0.000±0.001
F-value	7.194	5.073	0.057	1.902	2.161	0.138
DF	43	33	43	20	43	33
P-value	0.010	0.031	0.813	0.184	0.149	0.713

3.4. Discussion

This study shows that both Brassicaceae species were more self-compatible in populations originating from increasingly arid environments. The clear increase in the number of seeds produced by selfing relative to outcrossing with increasing aridity suggests that prezygotic self-incompatibility reduces seed production by selfing in mesic environments. *Biscutella didyma* produced as many viable seeds from selfing as from outcrossing consistently across the gradient, yet there was a trend in *S. alba* to produce fewer viable seeds from selfing with increasing aridity. This study shows that both species can secure their reproduction by self-fertilisation with increasing aridity, even though selfing in *S. alba* is not as successful as selfing in *B. didyma*.

The spontaneous selfing control represents the natural selfing success. Differences in the number of seeds produced in the spontaneous selfing control between the extreme environments would suggest that *B. didyma* maintains prezygotic self-incompatibility in mesic environments and that this mechanism becomes weaker with increasing aridity. Here, I provide evidence to support this, as spontaneous selfing was less successful in the mesic-Mediterranean environment than in the arid environment. The successful production of seeds by self-fertilisation in *B. didyma* indicates that the genetic sporophytic self-incompatibility mechanism is not active. Rather, prezygotic self-incompatibility in populations of *B. didyma* in the mesic-Mediterranean environment is most likely maintained by spatial or temporal partitioning of the sex organs. That is, the anthers and the stigma may be separated in space by floral morphology, or in time by the anthers ripening before the stigma, or *vice versa* (Barrett, 1988; Hiscock and Tabah, 2003). Moreover, these results corroborate previous observations of *B. didyma* grown in controlled greenhouse conditions in the absence of pollinators, which showed lower seed production by selfing from populations originating from the mesic-Mediterranean site than populations originating from the arid site (K. Tielbörger, *personal observation*).

In contrast to *B. didyma*, *S. alba* produced the greatest number of seeds in all populations by outcrossing, showing clearly that self-fertilisation is relatively unsuccessful in this species regardless

of environmental conditions. Moreover, fewer seeds were produced in the spontaneous selfing control compared to the selfing manipulation treatment, particularly in the semi-arid site. Temporal or spatial prezygotic self-incompatibility might remain active in all populations of *S. alba*. Alternatively, the higher seed production as a result of pollination manipulation could indicate that *S. alba* is naturally pollen limited. The stigma in the selfing manipulation treatment actively received pollen whilst the stigma in the spontaneous selfing control was untouched. The manipulation treatments presumably received more pollen than the flower is naturally able to provide to its own stigma, thus increasing the number of seeds produced in the manipulated selfing treatments relative to the spontaneous selfing control. Reproductive success has been recorded before to be greater in pollen-supplemented flowers (*i.e.*, hand-pollinated) than in flowers which are naturally pollinated (Kron et al., 1993; Goodwillie, 2001; Johnson et al., 2009; Petanidou et al., 2012). Furthermore, the number of seeds produced per flower in the spontaneous selfing control did not increase with decreasing rainfall which suggests that this species does not naturally rely more on self-fertilisation with increasing aridity.

Despite species-specific responses in seed production by spontaneous selfing, both species showed a clear cline of increasing self-compatibility with increasing aridity in the total number of seeds produced. This supports the reproductive assurance hypothesis which posits that plants in harsher environments may be under selection to secure their reproduction by self-fertilisation (Lloyd, 1992). The results show that selfing is as successful as outcrossing in *B. didyma* and that self-pollen may compete with outcross pollen for ovule fertilisation (E. Gibson-Forty and V. Ferenc *personal observations*). It is unsurprising, therefore, that *B. didyma* can compensate its seed production by selfing in arid environments which are predicted to have reduced outcrossing opportunities (Lloyd, 1992). Conversely, these results show that *S. alba* produces only few seeds by self-fertilisation when the risk of complete reproductive failure is high, lending support towards a delayed-selfing mechanism (Lloyd, 1992; Goodwillie et al., 2005).

Seed production by self-fertilisation produced as many viable seeds as seed production by outcrossing in B. didyma (viable proportion self-compatibility index) and consequently there was a trend towards increasing self-compatibility in the number of viable seeds per flower in B. didyma with increasing aridity. This suggests that postzygotic barriers to self-fertilisation are weak in B. didyma as selfembryos developed normally and were viable. Furthermore, this suggests that B. didyma populations along the rainfall gradient do not experience strong inbreeding depression as a result of selffertilisation, as inbreeding depression can manifest as the failure of fertilized embryos to develop (Seavey and Bawa, 1986). In contrasting, there was a trend towards decreasing viability of self-seeds relative to outcross-seeds in S. alba with increasing aridity. Ovule abortion and the failure of selfembryos to develop is likely the results of postzygotic self-incompatibility or inbreeding depression (Seavey and Bawa, 1986) and these results suggest that these processes were stronger in populations originating from increasingly arid environments. Populations of S. alba originating from mesic environments may produce more viable seeds by selfing than populations originating from arid environments because of continued selection from pollinator foraging behaviours (Eckert, 2002; Fenster et al., 2004; Benelli et al., 2017). The systematic foraging behaviour, particularly of bees, is known to increase the chance of self-fertilisation events (Lloyd, 1992; Eckert, 2000; Barrett, 2003). As pollinators are typically more abundant in mesic environments than in arid environments (Hegland and Boeke, 2006; Devoto et al., 2009; E. Gibson-Forty, pers. obvs.), S. alba in mesic environments may self-fertilise more, may have purged deleterious alleles from the population and, thus, suffer less from inbreeding depression than populations of *S. alba* in arid environments.

As some of the trends I have explained for each species are not supported statistically, I briefly provide alternative explanations, both methodological and ecological, for the results of the self-compatibility indices of viable seeds. Methodologically, the lack of significance in the self-compatibility index of the proportion of viable seeds out of total seeds produced in *S. alba* is likely a result of reduced sample size (Table 3.3). Meaningful information was lost because of mathematical reasons to calculate the viable proportion self-compatibility index. Many individuals of *S. alba* did not produce any self-seeds so were removed from the proportion analysis, and consequently, self-compatibility in this species may be overestimated. This is corroborated by the lack of reproductive assurance observed in the spontaneous selfing control of S. alba. Similarly, calculating the self-compatibility index of the number of viable seeds out of flowers manipulated exacerbates the variation in the data and it is likely that with a larger sample size, the trend of increasing self-compatibility in the number of viable seeds produced per flower manipulated for B. didyma would become significantly different from random variation within the population. Ecologically, the lack of increasing self-compatibility in the number of viable seeds produced in both species weakens the support for the reproductive assurance hypothesis and therefore requires the consideration of other environmental pressures selecting for reproductive strategies. Arid environments are challenging to plant populations in multiple related ways and thus the reproductive success of plant populations inhabiting arid environments is under multiple selection pressures and different adaptations to secure reproduction may manifest (Noy-Meir, 1973; Aronson et al., 1990; Kigel et al., 2011; Aronson et al., 1993). Previous studies comparing reproductive strategies of annual plants distributed along a Mediterranean-desert transect showed no consistent strategy of securing reproduction (Aronson et al., 1990; Aronson et al., 1993), highlighting that reproductive assurance may not be the dominant strategy to avoid reproductive failure. Furthermore, particularly B. didyma uses extensive seed banks and seed dormancy as bet-hedging techniques to buffer environmental variation in reproductive success (Lampei and Tielbörger, 2010; Petrů and Tielbörger, 2008; Tielbörger and Petrů, 2010; Tielbörger et al., 2012; Lampei et al., 2017). By using seed banks to avoid reproductive failure, the selection for reproductive assurance by selfing should be reduced and therefore should reduce the probability of self-compatibility (Evans et al., 2011).

3.5. Conclusions

In conclusion, this work supports the growing body of literature showing that strategies to adapt to arid environments are highly diverse amongst plant species. These results show that both species were able to increase seed production by self-fertilisation with increasing aridity, suggesting that prezygotic self-incompatibility mechanisms may reduce seed production by self-fertilisation in these species in mesic environments. Self-fertilisation was as successful as outcrossing in *B. didyma* across the gradient highlighting that this species reproduces by self-fertilisation frequently regardless of environmental conditions. Conversely, there was a trend towards fewer viable seeds produced by self-fertilisation in *S. alba* with increasing aridity indicating that successful self-fertilisation has been selected for in populations from mesic environments, presumably by pollinator foraging behaviour. These results strongly support the predictions of the reproductive assurance hypothesis in *B. didyma* and lend support towards reproductive assurance in *S. alba*. In light of the costs of self-fertilisation, it is likely that both species have evolved other adaptations to assure reproduction in the face of outcrossing failure, such as by using seed banks and seed dormancy. Adaptations to increasing aridity in traits other than increasing self-fertilisation allow for the maintenance of population genetic variation and therefore the potential for annual plant species to continually adapt to future dryland environments.

Chapter 4

Increasing rainfall selects for greater herbivore pressure and investment into specific plant defence compounds

The abiotic environment can determine the composition and abundance of herbivores which, in turn, can drive the coevolution of plant herbivore defences. Numerous distinct hypotheses have been developed to explain the cause of variation in plant defences, particularly intraspecific variation. Environmental gradients provide a unique opportunity to determine how intraspecific variation in herbivore pressure and plant defences changes in response to environmental variation and to predict changes in plant-herbivore interactions in the face of climate change. Whilst this has been exploited for latitudinal and elevation gradients, fewer studies have addressed intraspecific variation in plantherbivore interactions along rainfall gradients. As yet, the results are equivocal, confounded by the diversity of defence compounds analysed, inconsistency of species used and the differences arising between natural and controlled conditions. Therefore, there is a need for intraspecific studies of herbivore pressure and plant defence investment replicated across numerous related species that combine observational studies of natural herbivore pressure with controlled greenhouse studies. Here, I observed natural leaf damage by herbivory on five species of the Brassicaceae family distributed along a steep rainfall gradient in the Eastern Mediterranean. Moreover, the glucosinolate profiles were determined of the same species grown in controlled conditions from seeds collected in the field. I investigated the alternative hypotheses that either leaf damage by herbivory increases with increasing rainfall whilst total leaf glucosinolate concentrations decreases with increasing rainfall, or vice versa, and predict that this relationship is driven by a trade-off in leaf damage by herbivory and plant defence production. My results showed overall increasing herbivore pressure with increasing rainfall. However, total leaf glucosinolate concentration did not change with increasing rainfall. Nevertheless, I found that the concentrations of the specific classes of glucosinolates (aliphatic, benzenic, indole) were affected by rainfall in different ways and that this was consistent between and

within plant species. Surprisingly, I found no evidence for a trade-off in leaf damage by herbivory and total leaf glucosinolate concentration. Overall, my results suggest that even though investment into total leaf glucosinolates appears to be independent of herbivore pressure, with increasing aridity herbivore pressure will likely decrease whilst plants will likely increase the production of aliphatic glucosinolates.

4.1. Introduction

Patterns of plant herbivore defence can be determined directly by abiotic conditions and indirectly by biotic interactions (Callis-Duehl et al., 2017). The abiotic environment can directly influence the herbivore community present and this can select for variation in plant herbivore defences (Coley and Aide, 1991; van der Meijden, 1996; Fornoni et al., 2004; Pennings et al., 2009; Schemske et al., 2009; Agrawal, 2011; Ali and Agrawal, 2012). The diversity of plant defences is seen both between plant species and within plant species. Theories developed to account for intraspecific patterns in plant defences often build on the abiotic environment as driving defence differentiation, such as the growth-differentiation hypothesis (Herms and Mattson, 1992). The resource allocation hypothesis (Coley et al., 1985), which was originally developed as a framework for explaining interspecific variation in plant defences (Endara and Coley, 2011), has recently been applied to explain intraspecific variation (Hahn and Maron, 2016). Typically, empirical tests of the abiotic environment altering plant defences use a single target species, unfortunately, this approach often overlooks natural herbivore pressure and limits our ability to draw general conclusions.

Environmental gradients provide a natural experimental design to test how plant-herbivore interactions are affected by different abiotic conditions and can be used to predict how these interactions may change in response to climate change (Kigel et al., 2011; Sternberg et al., 2011). Herbivore damage has been found repeatedly to be greater at lower latitudes compared to high latitudes (Coley and Barone, 1996; Pennings et al., 2009; Więski and Pennings, 2014; Moreira et al., 2017a) and greater at lower elevations compared to high elevations (Mitton and Ferrenberg, 2012;

Rasmann et al., 2014; Moreira et al., 2017b). Typically, the drier conditions in higher latitudes and the colder conditions at higher elevations, together with the shorter growing seasons and typically sparse plant cover, limit the size of herbivore populations compared to herbivore populations at lower latitudes and elevations (Coley and Barone, 1996; Pennings et al., 2009; Mitton and Ferrenberg, 2012). Surprisingly, measuring herbivore pressure along rainfall gradients without latitudinal and elevational variation has not been extensively studied. The few studies on herbivore pressure along rainfall gradients report conflicting results from greater herbivore pressure in wetter sites (Brenes-Arguedas et al., 2009) to no relationship between herbivore pressure and rainfall (Sinclair and Hughes, 2008). Consequently, further studies to quantify herbivore pressure along rainfall gradients without covariation in latitude and elevation are urgently needed.

Local abiotic conditions can directly influence plant allocation to defence compounds (Menge, 2003; Woods et al., 2012; Moreira et al., 2017a). Therefore, variation in the abiotic environment over small spatial scales can drive clinal trends of intraspecific variation in plant defences (Gols et al., 2008; Harvey et al., 2011; Pratt and Mooney, 2013; Anderson et al., 2015). In addition to herbivore pressure studies, intraspecific variation in plant defence investment has been measured extensively along latitudinal gradients (e.g. Moreira et al., 2017a; Baskett Carina et al., 2018; and reviewed in Moles et al., 2011; and Anstett et al., 2016) and elevational gradients (e.g. Galen et al., 1991; Pratt and Mooney, 2013; Rasmann et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2015; Ferrenberg et al., 2017). Fewer studies have focused on evaluating the intraspecific variation in plant defences along rainfall gradients, and the results are contrasting. For example, some studies found enhanced plant defence levels with increasing rainfall (Ward et al., 2011; Castillo et al., 2013; Metz et al., 2014; Agrawal et al., 2015; Tomiolo et al., 2017), whilst others showed increasing plant defences with decreasing rainfall (Pratt and Mooney, 2013; Kooyers et al., 2014; Abdala-Roberts et al., 2016; Moreira et al., 2017a), or that the investment in plant defences was not affected by rainfall (Katz et al., 2013). The variation in results on the relationships between plant defences and rainfall are likely explainable by the numerous defence compounds analysed and the different species used, making comparisons between studies difficult. For example, plant defence metabolites measured along rainfall gradients comprise condensed tannins (Ward et al., 2011; Moreira et al., 2017a), monoterpenes (Pratt and Mooney, 2013), cardenolides (Agrawal et al., 2015), tropane alkaloids (Castillo et al., 2013), cyanogenic glucosides (Kooyers et al., 2014), phenolics (Abdala-Roberts et al., 2016), and glucosinolates (Metz et al., 2014; Tomiolo et al., 2017). Moreover, plant secondary metabolites are often species-specific and can perform other functions in addition to herbivore defence (Anstett et al., 2016; Scogings, 2018). The physiological variation in plant defences, together with the methodological variation in experimental studies makes it difficult to determine the direction and strength of relationships between the climate, herbivory and plant defences. The conflicting results from studies of herbivore damage and plant defence investment along rainfall gradients, together with the lack of taxonomic replication, leaves the question open of how changing environmental conditions effect plant-herbivore interactions within species. One approach to answer this question and to draw more reliable conclusions is to incorporate both measurements of herbivore damage and plant defence investment in numerous related species along many sites of a steep rainfall gradient in a single study. Ultimately these studies should be corroborated by manipulative experiments.

Here, I combine observations of leaf damage by herbivory on five Brassicaceae species along twelve sites of a steep rainfall gradient in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin with glucosinolate concentrations of the same species grown in controlled conditions from seeds collected along the gradient. The hydrolysis products of glucosinolates are detrimental to a wide range of herbivores and are used extensively in the Brassicaceae family (Halkier and Gershenzon, 2006; Agerbirk and Olsen, 2012). These properties of the glucosinolates, together with the wide distribution of the Brassicaceae family (Boaz et al., 1990; Lysak and Koch, 2011), offer a convenient system to study intraspecific variation in plant defences along a rainfall gradient. I studied multiple species in many sites along the gradient to test whether overall patterns in herbivore pressure and plant defence investment is corroborated

between and within species distributed along the rainfall gradient. I used the rainfall gradient as a proxy for climate change, as the Eastern Mediterranean Basin is expected to become increasingly arid (Black, 2009; Evans, 2009; Smiatek et al., 2011).

The relationships between leaf damage by herbivory and the concentration of total leaf glucosinolates may be positive or negative with increasing rainfall and thus both alternative hypotheses are presented. On the one hand, leaf damage by herbivory may increase with increasing rainfall and plant defence concentration may decrease because more resources in mesic environments enable plants to invest in compensatory growth and biomass production (Hilbert et al., 1981; Maschinski and Whitham, 1989; Siemens et al., 2003). On the other hand, leaf damage by herbivory may decrease with increasing rainfall and plant defence concentration may increase because more resources in mesic environments in mesic environments enable plants to invest in both growth and defence (Herms and Mattson, 1992). I predicted that these patterns were driven by a trade-off between leaf damage by herbivory and plant investment into constitutive defence, *i.e.*, the greater the plant defence, the lower the leaf damage by herbivory. Here, I first tested for the independent relationships of leaf damage by herbivory with increasing rainfall and the concentration of total leaf glucosinolates with increasing rainfall, and then I tested for the trade-off in leaf damage by herbivory and glucosinolate concentration.

4.2. Materials and Methods

Study sites and species

A field study was carried out in spring 2016 at twelve sites along a steep rainfall gradient, spanning the political borders of Israel, Palestine and Jordan (Table 4.1). The mean annual rainfall amount differs approximately tenfold between the arid (approx. 90 mm mean annual rainfall) and mesic-Mediterranean (approx. 950 mm mean annual rainfall) sites of the rainfall gradient, with rainfall variability being highest at the arid sites. The development of natural vegetation is determined chiefly by rainfall amount. The broadly Mediterranean climate generates warm, rainy winters and hot, rainless summers, with germination of annual species - the dominant life form - typically following the first rains of the season in October-November and seed set occurring during April and May. Five annual species from the Brassicaceae family were selected for the study: *Erucaria pinnata* (Viv.) Taeckh. & Boulos, *Hirschfeldia incana* (L.), *Isatis Iusitanica* (L.), *Matthiola livida* (Delile) DC., and *Sinapis alba* (L.) (Table 4.1). Species were selected for the study if they occurred in at least four sites (Table 4.1). *Erucaria pinnata* and *M. livida* have a Saharo-Arabian chorotype, *H. incana* and *I. lusitanica* have a Mediterranean-Irano-Turanian chorotype, and *S. alba* has a European-Siberian-Mediterranean-Irano-Turanian chorotype (Zohary, 1966).
Table 4.1: The broad environmental conditions, location, and species present for each of the 12 sites along the rainfall gradient. The asterisk in site 5 denotes that two populations of *E. pinnata* and *M. livida* were sampled at 200 and 300 mm/y rainfall. Mean annual rainfall (mm/y) values were obtained from Holzapfel et al. (2006); Liancourt and Tielbörger (2009); Liancourt et al. (2009); Kurze et al. (2017) and C. Holzapfel (*unpublished*).

Site	Mean annual	Broad environmental	nmental Coordinates	
	rainfall (mm/y)	conditions		present
1	90	Arid	N30°52' E34°46'	E. pinnata,
				M. livida
2	90	Arid	N31°41' E35°26'	E. pinnata,
				M. livida
3	190	Arid	N31°56' E35°49'	H. incana,
				M. livida
4	300	Semi-arid	N31°23' E34°51'	H. incana,
				I. lusitanica,
				S. alba
5	300*	Semi-arid	N31°48' E35°19'	E. pinnata,
				H. incana,
				M. livida
6	330	Semi-arid	N31°58' E35°44'	E. pinnata,
				H. incana,
				M. livida
7	370	Dry Mediterranean	N32°0' E35°44'	H. incana,
				I. lusitanica
8	415	Mediterranean	N32°01' E35°43'	H. incana,
				M. livida
9	500	Mediterranean	N31°45'E35°07'	H. incana,
				M. livida,
				S. alba
10	540	Mediterranean	N31°42' E35°3'	H. incana,
				I. lusitanica,
				S. alba
11	780	Mesic-	N35°0' E35°14'	S. alba
		Mediterranean		
12	950	Mesic-	N32°57' E35°19'	I. lusitanica,
		Mediterranean		S. alba

Herbivore damage observations

Between February and March 2016, *i.e.*, at peak season, 50 individuals per species per site (Table 4.1) were randomly selected to be included for herbivory observations. Of these 50 individuals, a single, fully expanded green leaf was randomly selected and leaf damage as a result of herbivory was estimated as a percentage of total leaf area. As individuals were selected at random, some individuals were vegetative whilst others were already flowering. I used leaf damage as a proxy for herbivore pressure (Andrew et al., 2012).

Plant material

Seeds from 15 individuals of each species were collected from approximately two sites in each broad environment: arid (sites 2 and 3), semi-arid (sites 5 and 6), Mediterranean (sites 7, 8 and 9), and mesic-Mediterranean (site 12, Table 4.1) and were germinated in a greenhouse. In November 2016, three to five seeds per individual were sown in $10 \times 10 \times 10$ cm pots with a 1:1 mixture of topsoil and sand. Plants were grown in a greenhouse under standard conditions: optimal water (soil saturation three times per week), optimal light (10 h per day), and temperature regimes that reflected the growing season in Israel (daily temperature range: 18-25 °C, night temperature range: 15-18 °C). Each pot was thinned to one individual after successful seedling establishment. All plants were sprayed with insecticide three times between seedling establishment and leaf harvesting to avoid induction of defence compounds in the greenhouse. Within 65 d of germination and before anthesis, the youngest fully expanded green leaf was removed from the plant, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen, lyophilised and analysed for the total concentration and composition of glucosinolates. In cases where the fresh leaf weighed less than 10 mg an additional young leaf was collected and pooled, typically in M. livida and E. pinnata. Six I. lusitanica individuals from site 7 did not germinate, reducing the replicate number from 15 to nine in this site. Aphids present in the greenhouse infested three individuals of M. livida, four individuals of E. pinnata, four individuals of I. lusitanica, 18 individuals of H. incana, and nine individuals of S. alba. As aphids may affect defence compound production (Mewis et al., 2005; Kim

and Jander, 2007; Kuśnierczyk et al., 2007; Kuśnierczyk et al., 2008; Barah et al., 2013; Stolpe et al., 2017), I took this into account in the data analyses (see below).

Glucosinolate analysis

Dry material was weighed, homogenised and extracted threefold in 80 % methanol. For samples of *M. livida*, benzylglucosinolate (Phytoplan Diehm & Neuberger, Heidelberg, Germany) was added as internal standard at the first extraction, whereas for the other species, 2-propenylglucosinolate (Sigma, Taufkirchen, Germany) was used. Supernatants were applied on anion exchange columns, treated overnight with sulfatase [E.C. 3.1.6.1, type H-1, from *Helix pomatia*, Sigma; purified following Graser et al. (2001)] and desulfoglucosinolates eluted with water. Samples were analysed on a high-performance liquid chromatograph (1200 Series, Agilent Technologies, Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA) coupled to a diode array detector. Separation was performed on a reversed phase column (Supelcosil LC 18, 150 mm × 3 mm, 3 μ m, Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA) using the gradient as described in Metz et al. (2014). Peaks were integrated at 229 nm and concentrations calculated in relation to the dry sample weight and the internal standard, considering response factors as in Buchner (1987) and using 1.0 for unknown putative aliphatic glucosinolates.

Statistical analysis

Leaf damage by herbivory

To determine whether leaf damage by herbivory increased with the cline of rainfall, I first averaged the leaf damage by herbivory per species per site along the rainfall gradient. Then, I log-transformed the averaged percentage leaf damage by herbivory across all species to conform to the assumptions of linear regression. I used a linear regression with the overall averaged log-transformed leaf damage as the dependent variable and rainfall as the independent continuous variable. I also used separate linear regression models for each species. Again, I log-transformed percentage leaf damage by herbivory and used this as the dependent variable and rainfall as the independent continuous variable for each species model.

Glucosinolate analysis

To determine whether glucosinolate concentrations increased with the cline of rainfall, I pooled all species together and summed the total glucosinolate concentrations for all individuals. Then I averaged the total glucosinolate concentration per species per site. I used a linear regression with the overall average glucosinolate concentration as the dependent variable and rainfall as the independent continuous variable.

The total leaf glucosinolate concentrations were also analysed separately for each species. I tested whether aphid infestation had an effect on glucosinolate concentration and found that there was no effect, so, consequently, I included all plant individuals in my analyses. I used separate linear regression models for each species with total leaf glucosinolates (and total aliphatic, benzenic and indole glucosinolates separately, where appropriate) concentrations as the dependent variable with rainfall as the continuous independent variable for each species model.

Leaf damage by herbivory and glucosinolate concentration trade-off

I determined whether there was a trade-off in leaf damage by herbivory and the concentration of total leaf glucosinolates. I used a linear regression with the overall averaged log-transformed leaf damage as the dependent variable and the average total leaf glucosinolate concentration as the independent variable. All statistical analyses and graphics were carried out in R version 3.4.3 (R Core Team, 2017).

4.3. Results

Leaf damage in the field

Across all species, the overall averaged leaf damage in the field significantly increased with the cline in rainfall (Fig. 4.1a, Table 4.2), even though the leaf damage on these species was generally very low in the field; leaf damage increased from 0.5% at the arid extreme to 2% at the mesic-Mediterranean extreme. At the intraspecific level, the percentage of leaf damage increased with increasing rainfall in three of the five species (*E. pinnata*, *H. incana*, and *S. alba*, Fig. 4.1b-d, Table 4.2), yet did not change with increasing rainfall in two of the five species (*M. livida*, *I. lusitanica*, Fig. 4.1e-f, Table 4.2).



Figure 4.1: Log-transformed percentage leaf damage by herbivory observed a) overall averaged per species per site along the rainfall gradient, b) in *E. pinnata*, c) in *H. incana*, d) in *S. alba*, e) in *M. livida*, f) in *I. lusitanica* species along the rainfall gradient. The black lines represent the significant cline in percentage leaf damage with increasing rainfall (mm/y). The coefficient of determination (R²), *P*-values and number of observations (n) are presented for each relationship. Rainfall (mm/y) on the x-axis represents the mean annual rainfall at the sites where leaf damage was measured.

Table 4.2: Test statistics for the effect of mean annual rainfall on overall percentage leaf damage by herbivory averaged per species per site along the rainfall gradient and for each plant species along the rainfall gradient. Separate linear regression models were performed for each species. Increasing leaf damage with increasing rainfall (+), no change in leaf damage with increasing rainfall (0). Coefficients \pm SE are presented for the intercept (β_0) and rainfall (β_1). The sample size was not the same for each species resulting in different degrees of freedom in each model. Values in bold highlight the significant results (P < 0.05).

Leaf damage	R ²	Relationship	$\beta_0 \pm SE$	$\beta_1 \pm SE$	F-value	DF	<i>P</i> -value
Overall averaged	0.241	+	-1.446 ± 0.203	0.001 ± 0.000	8.896	28	0.006
E. pinnata	0.064	+	-2.211 ± 0.247	0.004 ± 0.000	23.57	346	<0.001
H. incana	0.032	+	-1.804 ± 0.249	0.002 ± 0.001	16.17	489	<0.001
S. alba	0.023	+	-1.103 ± 0.383	0.001 ± 0.001	5.947	248	0.015
M. livida	0.010	0	-1.294 ± 0.259	0.002 ± 0.001	2.503	248	0.115
I. lusitanica	0.004	0	-1.466 ± 0.355	0.001 ± 0.001	0.889	244	0.347

Glucosinolate concentrations of plants grown in controlled conditions

Across all species, the average total glucosinolate concentration of plants grown in controlled conditions did not change with increasing rainfall at the site of origin (Fig. 4.2a, Table 4.3). The total leaf glucosinolate concentration increased with increasing rainfall at the site of origin in one of the five species (*S. alba*, Fig. 4.2b, Table 4.3), decreased with increasing rainfall at the site of origin in two of the five species (*E. pinnata*, *M. livida*, Fig. 4.2c-d, Table 4.3), and was not affected by mean annual rainfall at the site of origin in two of the five species (*I. lusitanica*, *H. incana*, Fig. 4.2e-f, Table 4.3).

In total, four glucosinolates were found in the two populations of S. alba, namely two benzenic glucosinolates (benzyl glucosinolate and p-hydroxybenzyl glucosinolate) and two indole glucosinolates (indol-3-ylmethyl glucosinolate (I3M) and 4-methoxy-indol-3-ylmethyl glucosinolate (4OHI3M)). The total benzenic glucosinolates concentration accounted for >99% of glucosinolates and thus followed the same trend as total leaf glucosinolate concentration (Fig. 4.2b, Table 4.3). In total, nine glucosinolates were found in E. pinnata, namely seven aliphatic glucosinolates (1-methylethyl glucosinolate, 3-butenyl glucosinolate, 4-pentenyl glucosinolate, 6-methylsulfinylhexyl, three unidentified aliphatic glucosinolates), and two indole glucosinolates (I3M and 4OHI3M). The total aliphatic glucosinolate concentration accounted for >99% of glucosinolates and thus followed the same trend as total leaf glucosinolate concentration (Fig. 4.2c, Table 4.3). In total, ten glucosinolates were found in *M. livida*, namely nine aliphatic glucosinolates and one indole glucosinolate (40HI3M). The total aliphatic concentration accounted for >99% of glucosinolates and thus followed the same trend as total leaf glucosinolate concentration (Fig. 4.2d, Table 4.3). One indole glucosinolate (I3M) was found in I. Iusitanica. The total indole concentration accounted for 100% of glucosinolates and was not affected by rainfall at the site of origin (Fig. 4.2e, Table 4.3). In total, seven glucosinolates were found in the six populations of *H. incana*, namely four aliphatic glucosinolates (2-hydroxy-3butenyl glucosinolate, 3-butenyl glucosinolate, 4-pentenyl glucosinolate, 5-methylsulfinylpentyl), one benzenic glucosinolate (2-phenylethyl glucosinolate), and two indole glucosinolates (I3M and 4OHI3M). The total aliphatic glucosinolate concentration accounted for 91% of the total glucosinolates and significantly decreased with increasing rainfall at the site of origin (Fig. 4.3, Table 4.3). The total benzenic glucosinolate concentration accounted for 5% of the total glucosinolates and significantly increased with increasing rainfall at the site of origin (Fig. 4.3, Table 4.3). The total indole glucosinolate concentration accounted for 4% of the total glucosinolates and significantly increased with increasing rainfall at the site of origin (Fig. 4.3, Table 4.3).



Figure 4.2: Glucosinolate concentrations a) overall averaged per species per origin site, b) in *S. alba*, c) in *E. pinnata*, d) in *M. livida*, e) in *I. lusitanica*, f) in *H. incana* species grown under controlled conditions in relation to the rainfall at the site of origin. The black dots represent the total leaf glucosinolate concentrations. The lines represent the significant cline in total leaf glucosinolate concentrations with increasing rainfall (mm/y). The dominant glucosinolate class, the coefficient of determination (R²), *P*-values and number of observations (n) are presented for each relationship. Rainfall (mm/y) on the x-axis represents the mean annual rainfall at the sites of origin.



Figure 4.3: The concentrations of each class of glucosinolates present in *H. incana* species grown under controlled conditions in relation to the rainfall at the site of origin. The black dots represent the total leaf glucosinolate concentrations. The lines represent the significant cline in the concentration of each class of glucosinolate with increasing rainfall (mm/y). Each glucosinolate class, the coefficient of determination (R²), *P*-values and number of observations (n) are presented. Rainfall (mm/y) on the x-axis represents the average annual rainfall at the sites of origin.

Table 4.3: Test statistics for the effect of mean annual rainfall at the site of origin on the total leaf glucosinolate concentration overall averaged per species per site, the total leaf glucosinolate concentration for each plant species, and the concentration of the dominant glucosinolate class for each species. Separate linear regression models were performed for each species. Increasing concentrations of glucosinolates with increasing rainfall (+), no change in concentration of glucosinolates with increasing concentrations of glucosinolates with increasing concentrations of glucosinolates with increasing concentrations of glucosinolates with increasing rainfall (-). Coefficients ± SE are presented for the intercept (β_0) and rainfall (β_1). The sample size was not the same for each species, resulting in different degrees of freedom in each model. Values in bold highlight the significant results (P < 0.05).

Total	R ²	Relationship	$\beta_0 \pm SE$	$\beta_1 \pm SE$	F-value	DF	P-value
glucosinolates							
Overall	0.059	0	16.514 ± 5.351	0.012 ± 0.012	1.062	17	0.317
averaged							
S. alba	0.175	+	27.161 ± 6.907	0.022 ± 0.009	5.953	28	0.021
E. pinnata	0.151	-	43.086 ± 4.690	-0.061 ± 0.019	10.16	57	0.002
M. livida	0.544	-	19.470 ± 1.836	-0.057 ± 0.008	50.09	42	<0.001
I. lusitanica	0.030	0	15.971 ± 1.063	0.002 ± 0.002	1.534	50	0.221
H. incana	0.026	0	23.849 ± 3.851	-0.016 ± 0.011	2.319	88	0.131
Glucosinolate class							
S. alba	0.176	+	26.958 ± 6.878	0.022 ± 0.009	5.973	28	0.021
benzenic							
E. pinnata	0.155	-	43.109 ± 4.690	-0.061 ± 0.019	10.45	57	0.002
aliphatic							
M. livida	0.544	-	19.459 ± 1.835	-0.057 ± 0.008	50.15	42	<0.001
aliphatic							
I. lusitanica	0.030	0	15.971 ± 1.063	0.002 ± 0.002	1.534	50	0.221
indole							
H. incana	0.054	-	24.666 ± 3.734	-0.023 ± 0.010	5.008	88	0.028
aliphatic							
H. incana	0.045	+	0.468 ± 0.180	0.001 ± 0.000	4.159	88	0.044
benzenic							
H. incana	0.286	+	-1.285 ± 0.358	0.006 ± 0.000	35.24	88	<0.001
indole							

Leaf damage by herbivory and glucosinolate concentration trade-off

There was no relationship between the amount of leaf damage by herbivory in the field and the total leaf glucosinolate concentration of species grown in controlled conditions (R^2 =0.011, $F_{1,17}$ =0.194, P=0.665, Fig. 4.4).



Figure 4.4: The average log of percentage leaf damage as observed in the field as a function of the average total leaf glucosinolate concentration of all plant species grown under controlled conditions. The coefficient of determination (R^2), *P*-value and number of observations (n) are presented.

4.4. Discussion

Here, I observed leaf damage by herbivory on five species of the Brassicaceae family along a steep rainfall gradient in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin. I showed that overall leaf damage, and therefore, herbivory pressure, increased with the cline of increasing rainfall. Furthermore, this trend was corroborated in three of the five target species which had the greatest leaf damage by herbivory in mesic environments. In addition, my results showed that total leaf glucosinolate concentration of the target species grown in controlled conditions did not change with increasing rainfall at the site of origin. Nevertheless, I found that the concentration of each class of glucosinolates was affected by rainfall. Moreover, each species tended to invest in one dominant class of glucosinolates. In contrast to my prediction, I found no trade-off in leaf damage by herbivory and total leaf glucosinolate concentration. The high taxonomic replication of this study enables me to identify patterns of herbivory and plant defence investment at different levels. That is, overall along the rainfall gradient, between species distributed along the gradient, and, of particular importance for predicting the effects of climate change, between populations within species distributed along the rainfall gradient.

Variation in herbivore damage

Overall, leaf damage increased along the entire length of the rainfall gradient from the arid to the mesic-Mediterranean environments. I used leaf damage as a proxy for herbivory pressure (Andrew et al., 2012), and accordingly support the first of the two alternative hypotheses, that there is a cline of increasing herbivory pressure with increasing rainfall. These results corroborate previous studies that showed increasing herbivory pressure in wetter conditions (Coley and Barone, 1996; Wright, 1999; Brenes-Arguedas et al., 2009). Favourable environments, such as the mesic-Mediterranean environment of the present study, can support more herbivores because the abiotic conditions promote greater ectothermic activity than in arid environments (Novotny et al., 2005; Rodríguez-Castañeda et al., 2010). In addition, herbivore abundance may be greater in favourable environments because plant biomass is typically greater and thus provides more resources for insect herbivores such

as food, oviposition and nesting sites than in arid conditions (Price, 1991; Hegland and Boeke, 2006; Devoto et al., 2009; Louthan et al., 2015; Hahn and Maron, 2016).

Acknowledging that herbivore damage increases with increasing rainfall without taking plant species identity into account provides limited evidence for the effects of climate change on plant damage by herbivory. Rather, stronger evidence is provided by observing trends in herbivore damage within a plant species. Nevertheless, using only a single species to compare differences between populations provides limited support for general changes in plant-herbivore interactions (Anstett et al., 2016). Therefore, identifying a consistent pattern between plant populations across numerous species provides robust evidence towards a general trend in plant-herbivore interactions. These study results showed that across three species each population inhabiting the most mesic environment of their distribution received the greatest leaf damage. This may be driven directly by abiotic conditions or indirectly by plant growth strategies. First, plants may experience greater leaf damage by herbivory in mesic environments because the growing season lengthens with more mesic conditions and thus plants are exposed to herbivory pressure for longer (Strong, 1977). Second, resources are more abundant in mesic environments and therefore plants may invest resources into biomass production and compensatory growth after herbivory damage thus leaving many leaves highly damaged by herbivory (Hilbert et al., 1981; Maschinski and Whitham, 1989; Siemens et al., 2003). Taken together, my results from the herbivory observations imply that increasing aridity in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin is likely to reduce herbivore damage within and between plant species.

Variation in plant defence production

Overall, the total leaf glucosinolate concentration of plants grown in controlled conditions was not affected by increasing rainfall at the sites of origin, and consequently does not support either hypothesis. The direction of change in plant defence investment is difficult to predict along resource gradients because of the opposing selection pressures from the abiotic environment and from herbivores. Plants inhabiting arid environments may produce greater concentrations of chemical defences than plants inhabiting more mesic environments because biomass is less easily replaceable in low-resource environments (Coley et al., 1985). Conversely, plants inhabiting mesic environments may produce greater concentrations of chemical defences because resources are more abundant and herbivory pressure may be greater, therefore plants may allocate resources into both growth and defence production (Herms and Mattson, 1992). The lack of evidence for a trend in overall glucosinolates production in the present study may suggest species-specific responses in defence production. Alternatively, it may suggest that calculating the total leaf glucosinolate concentration masks differences in the concentration of glucosinolate classes to increasing rainfall at the sites of origin, although this may be unlikely as each species tended to invest in one dominant class of glucosinolate. Accounting for changes in chemical composition has been advised in previous studies because herbivore insensitivity to certain chemicals can select for a range of defence compounds to be produced within a single plant (Siemens and Mitchell-Olds, 1996; Müller et al., 2010).

All five target plant species produced one dominant class of glucosinolates (>90% of the total leaf glucosinolate production) and the identity of this dominant class varied between the species. Moreover, each class of glucosinolates (aliphatic, benzenic and indole) consistently responded to rainfall in different ways. Benzenic glucosinolates, which were dominant in *S. alba* and minor in *H. incana*, increased in concentration in populations originating from mesic sites. Increasing production of constitutive glucosinolates not only provides immediate defence against herbivory, but may also attract natural enemies of herbivores through the increased release of nitrile emissions during glucosinolate hydrolysis (Agerbirk and Olsen, 2012). Using natural enemies of herbivores could be particularly advantageous to plants inhabiting mesic environments that typically support greater insect abundance and diversity (Hegland and Boeke, 2006; Devoto et al., 2009). I am cautious in my conclusions, however, as samples for glucosinolate analysis in *S. alba* were obtained from only two sites and benzenic glucosinolates in *H. incana* were minor (5% total leaf glucosinolate concentration).

Aliphatic glucosinolates were the dominant class in three of the five target species and the concentration of this glucosinolate class consistently decreased in populations originating from mesic sites along the gradient. A similar pattern was reported in *A. thaliana* plants grown under drought conditions, in that the concentration of aliphatic glucosinolates increased with decreasing rainfall (Mewis et al., 2012). Similarly, a co-occurring annual species in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin, *Biscutella didyma*, showed decreasing concentrations in three out of five aliphatic glucosinolate compounds with increasing rainfall (Metz et al., 2014). Plants have been found to produce glucosinolates in drought tissue at low turgor, particularly short-chain constitutive glucosinolates (Mewis et al., 2012). Thus, plants that have evolved in water-limited environments may increase their production of short-chain constitutive glucosinolates precursors for later use in herbivory defence. Aliphatic glucosinolates are short-chained methionine derivatives (Mewis et al., 2012), hence potentially explaining the increase in aliphatic glucosinolate concentrations in populations that originate from water-limited sites in the present study.

Indole glucosinolates were the dominant class in only one of the five target species. This is most likely because my experiment was designed to quantify the concentration of constitutive glucosinolates. Aliphatic glucosinolates are commonly the dominant constitutively expressed glucosinolates whilst indole glucosinolates are commonly the dominant glucosinolates induced upon tissue damage (Harvey et al., 2011). Expressing indole glucosinolates after tissue damage occurs because they are more readily hydrolysed into their toxic by-products than aliphatic glucosinolates (Agerbirk et al., 2008).

Taken together, my results from the glucosinolate analysis imply that increasing aridity in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin is likely to select for the increasing production of aliphatic glucosinolates in species which dominantly express this class, whilst simultaneously reducing the concentration of benzenic glucosinolates and potentially indole glucosinolates. Consequently, increasing aridity may not select for greater chemical defence overall, but may act as a divergent selection pressure on the glucosinolate composition in Brassicaceae species.

4.5. Conclusions: Linking herbivore pressure and defence production

Disentangling the direct effects of the abiotic environment on plant defence concentration and the indirect effects mediated by herbivore pressure remains difficult. Evidence of clines in both herbivore pressure and glucosinolate concentrations along the rainfall gradient may support the hypothesis that herbivore pressure selects for geographic variation in plant defences (Pennings et al., 2009). However, the assumption that plants have higher defences in regions of higher herbivory has recently been argued as problematic in the latitudinal herbivory defence hypothesis (Anstett et al., 2015). Anstett et al. (2015) argue that plants which are more heavily defended will likely suffer from less, rather than more herbivore damage. In the present study, I show that not only was there no trade-off in leaf damage by herbivory and total leaf glucosinolate concentration, but that there was no relationship between the two. This could be because overall leaf damage by herbivory was very low in the field and thus does not act as a selection pressure on glucosinolate production. Alternatively, it could be because these species use other forms of defence, such as tolerance that do not influence the amount of plant damage (Anstett et al., 2015). Consequently, herbivore observations, chemical analysis and manipulative experiments are required together to ascertain the mechanisms driving plant chemical defence evolution. The present study has provided the first steps towards understanding this complex relationship in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin. I provide here compelling evidence that increasing aridity reduces herbivory damage to plants between and within species and that whilst overall defence concentration may not increase per se, increasing aridity seemingly selects for the specific production of aliphatic glucosinolates. Manipulative experiments are now required to rigorously test for the trade-off in leaf damage and defence production particularly in induced defences to separate and quantify the relative effects of climate and herbivory in selecting for variation in plant herbivore defences.

Chapter 5 Discussions and Conclusions

Changes in the climate will not only affect plant species directly, but they will also affect the interactions between plants and their associated animals (Hegland et al., 2009; Hargreaves and Eckert, 2014). Because of the direct and indirect effects that the abiotic environment has on plant fitness, it remains a challenge to predict how plants may respond to climate change (Franks et al., 2014; Merila and Hendry, 2014; Hahn and Maron, 2016). The importance of understanding the influence of the abiotic and biotic environment on plant fitness is especially evident in the increasing number of field experiments related to testing plant-animal interactions along environmental gradients (e.g. Devoto et al., 2005; Devoto et al., 2009; Moles et al., 2011; Sternberg et al., 2011; Hahn and Maron, 2016). However, as outlined in chapter 1, the selection pressures, mechanisms, and consequences of securing reproduction and investment into chemical defence in an increasingly arid climate remains uncertain. This is regrettable as, particularly in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin, rainfall amounts are predicted to decrease by 20% with rain events becoming less frequent and more extreme (Black, 2009; Evans, 2009; Smiatek et al., 2011; Golodets et al., 2013). This thesis resolves some of the aforementioned uncertainty by addressing the research goals put forward in chapter 1 in the form of hypothesis testing through observations and experiments as reported in chapters 2, 3, and 4.

I hypothesised that populations of plant species inhabiting increasingly arid environments will secure their reproduction by self-fertilisation and thus I predicted that populations from increasingly arid environments will produce more viable seeds by self-fertilisation in the natural environment (chapter 2). Moreover, I predicted that plant populations have adapted to increasing aridity by evolving greater self-compatibility (chapter 3). The pollinator observations (chapter 2) clearly showed a decline in pollinator visits with increasing aridity confirming that pollinators become increasing limited with decreasing rainfall. This fulfils one of the two prerequisites for reproductive assurance by selffertilisation to evolve (Lloyd, 1992) in annual plant species in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin. The second prerequisite to select for the evolution of reproductive assurance is mate limitation (Lloyd, 1992) and previous research along this rainfall gradient showed that the average density of conspecific mates decreases with increasing aridity (Tielbörger et al., 2014). Taken together, this research provides compelling evidence that the conditions in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin will likely select for reproductive assurance in plant species distributed along the rainfall gradient.

Despite a clear decrease in pollinator abundance with increasing aridity, the pollinator visits to the three-target species showed less clear trends, thus potentially reducing the clear selection pressure for reproductive assurance. Pollinator visits to Isatis lusitanica were lower in the semi-arid site than the Mediterranean site, yet this had no effect on the number of seeds produced by self-fertilisation. These findings corroborate previous research classifying *I. lusitanica* as essentially self-incompatible (Plitmann, 1993), thus rendering reproduction by self-fertilisation nearly impossible. Nevertheless, I. lusitanica maintained a constant seed production by outcrossing across the rainfall gradient despite decreasing pollinator activity. I conclude from these combined results that *I. lusitanica* is completely reliant on pollinator visits to ensure successful fertilisation, yet, despite significantly fewer pollinator visits in the arid environment, the reproductive success of *I. lusitanica* remains secure. This resilience of plant reproductive success in arid environments may arise because the associated pollinator community may be highly efficient at cross-pollination and may be highly adapted to harsh environments by rapidly adjusting their activity and foraging behaviour in accordance with local climatic conditions (Minckley et al., 2013). Such flexibility in the plant-pollinator interactions of I. *lusitanica* implies that this species, and potentially other outcrossing annual species, may be able to maintain reproductive success as the environment becomes increasingly arid as predicted by climate change (Smiatek et al., 2011).

Pollinator visits to *Biscutella didyma* remained constant across the rainfall gradient, therefore reducing the selection pressure for populations in increasingly arid environments to secure their

reproduction by self-fertilisation (Lloyd, 1992). Nevertheless, the results from the pollinator exclusion experiment in chapter 2 provide compelling evidence that *B. didyma* increases seed production by self-fertilisation in arid environments. This evidence for reproductive assurance in *B. didyma* in the natural environment was corroborated by the controlled manipulation experiment reported in chapter 3. Here, *B. didyma* exhibited greater self-compatibility with the cline of increasing aridity. Moreover, these results were confirmed by the spontaneous selfing control in the manipulation experiment which showed unequivocally that populations of *B. didyma* originating from the arid environment are genetically able to produce significantly more seeds by spontaneous self-fertilisation than populations originating from the mesic-Mediterranean environment. Based on the constant pollinator visitation rate, I conclude that the selection of reproductive assurance in *B. didyma* is most likely driven by mate limitation which has weakened prezygotic barriers of self-incompatibility (Barrett, 1988; Barrett, 2010b). Additional pollinator observations would be necessary to confirm whether the trend observed in the consistent pollinator relationship, or whether the pattern identified during this study year was abnormal.

The number of pollinator visits to *Sinapis alba* reflected the general pattern of pollinator visits along the rainfall gradient, *i.e.*, decreasing visits with increasing aridity. Therefore, I expected to find strong evidence for reproductive assurance in populations of *S. alba* inhabiting the arid environment. However, the results from the field experiment provided no evidence that *S. alba* can increase the number of seeds produced by self-fertilisation in harsher environments (chapter 2). The results from the controlled manipulation experiment do not, on first sight, support the field results (chapter 3). The controlled manipulation experiment showed a clear cline in self-compatibility in *S. alba* with increasing aridity. I am cautious in concluding that *S. alba* has evolved to assure its reproduction by selffertilisation, however, because there was no evidence of reproductive assurance in the spontaneous selfing control. I conclude therefore, that the self-compatibility index, by virtue of the mathematics involved in its calculation, overestimates the capacity of *S. alba* to successfully self-fertilise. The combined evidence from the natural environment (chapter 2) and the spontaneous control from the controlled manipulation experiment (chapter 3) showed that whilst *S. alba* may exhibit trends towards assuring its reproduction by self-fertilisation, this may not be its main strategy to secure reproduction in arid environments. Other strategies that this species, and potentially other annual plant species using mixed mating, use to secure reproduction without increasing self-fertilisation include seed dormancy and seed banks which prevent reproductive failure in unfavourable years (e.g. Lampei and Tielbörger, 2010; Tielbörger et al., 2012; Evans et al., 2011).

The combined evidence accumulated from field observations of natural pollinator activity, field manipulation experiments, and controlled manipulation experiments on populations of numerous plant species distributed along a steep rainfall gradient permits some predictions of how plantpollinator interactions may change in response to future climate change. The research assimilated in chapters 2 and 3 of this thesis suggests that pollinator activity and diversity will decline with increasing aridity, yet this seems to have little effect on the efficiency of cross-pollination. Moreover, my research implies that the number of large solitary wild bees and hoverflies may decline with increasing aridity. This is in line with recent research that shows that bees may be vulnerable to climate change, particularly to increasing temperatures and decreasing rainfall (Hegland et al., 2009; Benelli et al., 2017). The robustness of pollinators to provide sufficient cross-pollen to annual plant species regardless of environmental conditions implies that, despite the negative impacts of climate change on the pollinator community, annual plant communities will continue to reproduce by outcrossing. Reproduction by outcrossing will maintain genetic variation within the gene pool, thus providing the opportunity for adaptation to novel climatic conditions (Charlesworth et al., 1993; Charlesworth, 2003; Barrett, 2010a; Levin, 2010; Barrett et al., 2014). The evidence showing that assuring reproduction by self-fertilisation was species-specific limits my ability to generalise and predict how increasing aridity will influence reproductive strategies overall in annual plant communities in the Eastern Mediterranean Basin.

In chapter 4, I put forward two alternative hypotheses to describe the relationship between leaf damage by herbivory and the concentration of plant chemical defences. This relationship may be positively or negatively affected by increasing aridity (see also Hilbert et al., 1981; Maschinski and Whitham, 1989; Herms and Mattson, 1992; Siemens et al., 2003). In both cases, I predicted that this relationship was driven by a trade-off between leaf damage by herbivory and the concentration of plant chemical defence. The results of the herbivore pressure observations corroborate the results of the pollinator observations, that is, decreasing herbivore pressure (and decreasing pollinator activity) with increasing aridity. The general reduction in leaf damage by herbivory with increasing aridity implies that many species of the annual plant community will benefit from reduced herbivore pressure with climate change. Plant investment into the total concentration of glucosinolate chemical defence is sensitive to increasing aridity. Surprisingly, there was no evidence of a relationship between leaf damage by herbivory and glucosinolate concentration suggesting that interactions between plants and their associated herbivores may provide weaker selective pressures for the evolution of chemical defence than the pressure from the abiotic environment.

Overall, the research of this thesis shows that large intraspecific variation exists in plant-pollinator and plant-herbivore interactions in populations of annual Brassicaceae species distributed along a steep rainfall gradient. Moreover, this thesis provides evidence that variation in the pollinator community and herbivore pressure has limited consequences for the reproductive success and defence mechanisms of annual Brassicaceae species. Each of the experiments and the observations of pollinator activity and herbivore pressure was conducted in a single growing season in a region that experiences large inter-annual variation in rainfall amount (Holzapfel et al., 2006), thus there is a limitation to the generality of these results. However, the annual rainfall in the second study year (chapter 2) was below average for the region whilst the temperature was above average (WMO, 2018) thus providing realistic conditions for which reproductive assurance is expected to occur. Naturally, long term observations might provide more exhaustive results, and there is scope to further investigate the guilds of herbivores present along the rainfall gradient and the specific effects of specialists *vs.* generalist herbivores on the constitutive and induced chemical defences of the annual Brassicaceae community. Nevertheless, in light of the combined research of this thesis, I conclude that the fitness of plants, at least in the Brassicaceae family, will remain relatively unaffected by climate change and that the continuation of outcrossing will maintain genetic diversity in a region that harbours great biodiversity (Myers et al., 2000; Sala et al., 2000; Golan-Angelko and Bar-Or, 2008).

References

- ABDALA-ROBERTS, L., MOREIRA, X., RASMANN, S., PARRA-TABLA, V. & MOONEY, K. A. 2016. Test of biotic and abiotic correlates of latitudinal variation in defences in the perennial herb Ruellia nudiflora. *Journal of Ecology*, 104, 580-590.
- AGERBIRK, N., DE VOS, M., KIM, J. H. & JANDER, G. 2008. Indole glucosinolate breakdown and its biological effects. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 8, 101.
- AGERBIRK, N. & OLSEN, C. E. 2012. Glucosinolate structures in evolution. *Phytochemistry*, 77, 16-45.
- AGRAWAL, A. A. 2011. Current trends in the evolutionary ecology of plant defence. *Functional Ecology*, 25, 420-432.
- AGRAWAL, A. A., HASTINGS, A. P., BRADBURD, G. S., WOODS, E. C., ZÜST, T., HARVEY, J. A. & BUKOVINSZKY, T. 2015. Evolution of plant growth and defense in a continental introduction. *The American Naturalist*, 186, E1-E15.
- AGRAWAL, A. A., HASTINGS, A. P., JOHNSON, M. T. J., MARON, J. L. & SALMINEN, J.-P. 2012. Insect Herbivores Drive Real-Time Ecological and Evolutionary Change in Plant Populations. *Science*, 338, 113.
- AGRAWAL, A. A. & WEBER, M. G. 2015. On the study of plant defence and herbivory using comparative approaches: how important are secondary plant compounds. *Ecology Letters*, 18, 985-991.
- AITKEN, S., N., YEAMAN, S., HOLLIDAY JASON, A., WANG, T. & CURTIS-MCLANE, S. 2008. Adaptation, migration or extirpation: climate change outcomes for tree populations. *Evolutionary Applications*, **1**, 95-111.
- ALI, J. G. & AGRAWAL, A. A. 2012. Specialist versus generalist insect herbivores and plant defense. *Trends in Plant Science*, 17, 293-302.
- ANDERSON, J. T., PERERA, N., CHOWDHURY, B. & MITCHELL-OLDS, T. 2015. Microgeographic patterns of genetic divergence and adaptation across environmental gradients in Boechera stricta (Brassicaceae). *The American Naturalist*, 186, S60-S73.
- ANDREW, N. R., ROBERTS, I. R. & HILL, S. J. 2012. Insect herbivory along environmental gradients. *Open Journal of Ecology*, 2, 202.
- ANSTETT, D. N., AHERN, J. R., GLINOS, J., NAWAR, N., SALMINEN, J. P. & JOHNSON, M. T. 2015. Can genetically based clines in plant defence explain greater herbivory at higher latitudes? *Ecology letters*, 18, 1376-1386.
- ANSTETT, D. N., NUNES, K. A., BASKETT, C. & KOTANEN, P. M. 2016. Sources of controversy surrounding latitudinal patterns in herbivory and defense. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 31, 789-802.
- ARCEO-GÓMEZ, G., ABDALA-ROBERTS, L., JANKOWIAK, A., KOHLER, C., MEINDL, G. A., NAVARRO-FERNÁNDEZ, C. M., PARRA-TABLA, V., ASHMAN, T.-L. & ALONSO, C. 2016. Patterns of among-and within-species variation in heterospecific pollen receipt: The importance of ecological generalization. *American Journal of Botany*, 103, 396-407.
- ARIANOUTSOU-FARAGGITAKI, M. & GROVES, R. H. 2012. *Plant-animal interactions in Mediterraneantype ecosystems*, Springer Science & Business Media.
- ARONSON, J., KIGEL, J. & SHMIDA, A. 1993. Reproductive allocation strategies in desert and Mediterranean populations of annual plants grown with and without water stress. *Oecologia*, 93, 336-342.
- ARONSON, J., KIGEL, J., SHMIDA, A. & KLEIN, J. 1992. Adaptive phenology of desert and Mediterranean populations of annual plants grown with and without water stress. *Oecologia*, 89, 17-26.
- ARONSON, J. A., KIGEL, J. & SHMIDA, A. 1990. Comparative plant sizes and reproductive strategies in desert and Mediterranean populations of ephemeral plants *Israel Journal of Botany*, 39, 413-430.

- ASHMAN, T.-L., KNIGHT, T. M., STEETS, J. A., AMARASEKARE, P., BURD, M., CAMPBELL, D. R.,
 DUDASH, M. R., JOHNSTON, M. O., MAZER, S. J., MITCHELL, R. J., MORGAN, M. T. & WILSON,
 W. G. 2004. Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: Ecological and evolutionary causes and
 consequences. *Ecology*, 85, 2408-2421.
- ASHMAN, T.-L. & SCHOEN, D. J. 1994. How long should flowers live? Nature, 371, 788.
- BAKER, H. G. 1955. Self-compatibility and establishment after 'long-distance' dispersal. *Evolution*, 9, 347-349.
- BARAH, P., WINGE, P., KUSNIERCZYK, A., TRAN, D. H. & BONES, A. M. 2013. Molecular signatures in Arabidopsis thaliana in response to insect attack and bacterial infection. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e58987.
- BARRETT, S. C. 1988. *The evolution, maintenance, and loss of self-incompatibility systems*, Oxford University Press New York.
- BARRETT, S. C. 2003. Mating strategies in flowering plants: the outcrossing–selfing paradigm and beyond. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 358, 991-1004.
- BARRETT, S. C. 2010a. Understanding plant reproductive diversity. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 365, 99-109.
- BARRETT, S. C. & HARDER, L. D. 1996. Ecology and evolution of plant mating. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 11, 73-79.
- BARRETT, S. C. H. 2002. The evolution of plant sexual diversity. *Nature Review Genetics*, 3, 274-284.
- BARRETT, S. C. H. 2010b. Darwin's legacy: the forms, function and sexual diversity of flowers. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 365, 351-368.
- BARRETT, S. C. H., ARUNKUMAR, R. & WRIGHT, S. I. 2014. The demography and population genomics of evolutionary transitions to self-fertilization in plants. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 369, 20130344.
- BARRETT, S. C. H. & HARDER, L. D. 2017. The ecology of mating and its evolutionary consequences in seed plants. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics,* 48, 135-157.
- BASKETT CARINA, A., SCHEMSKE DOUGLAS, W. & NOVOTNY, V. 2018. Latitudinal patterns of herbivore pressure in a temperate herb support the biotic interactions hypothesis. *Ecology Letters*, 21, 578-587.
- BATEMAN, A. J. 1955. Self-incompatibility systems in angiosperms: III. Cruciferae. *Heredity*, 9, 53-68.
- BAZZAZ, F. A. & GRACE, J. 1997. *Plant resource allocation*, Academic press.
- BENELLI, G., BENVENUTI, S., SCARAMOZZINO, P. L. & CANALE, A. 2017. Food for honeybees? Pollinators and seed set of Anthyllis barba-jovis L. (Fabaceae) in arid coastal areas of the Mediterranean basin. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 24, 1056-1060.
- BERGHOLZ, K., MAY, F., RISTOW, M., GILADI, I., ZIV, Y. & JELTSCH, F. 2017. Two Mediterranean annuals feature high within-population trait variability and respond differently to a precipitation gradient. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 25, 48-58.
- BLACK, E. 2009. The impact of climate change on daily precipitation statistics in Jordan and Israel. *Atmospheric Science Letters*, 10, 192-200.
- BOAZ, M., PLITMANN, U. & HEYN, C. C. 1990. The ecogeographic distribution of breeding systems in the Cruciferae (Brassicaceae) of Israel. *Israel Journal of Botany*, 39, 31-42.
- BRENES-ARGUEDAS, T., COLEY, P. D. & KURSAR, T. A. 2009. Pests vs. drought as determinants of plant distribution along a tropical rainfall gradient. *Ecology*, 90, 1751-1761.
- BRYANT, J. P., CHAPIN III, F. S. & KLEIN, D. R. 1983. Carbon/nutrient balance of boreal plants in relation to vertebrate herbivory. *Oikos*, 357-368.
- BUCHNER, R. 1987. Approach to determination of HPLC response factors for glucosinolates. *Glucosinolates in rapeseeds: analytical aspects.* Springer.
- BUSCH, J. W. 2005. The evolution of self-compatibility in geographically peripheral populations of Leavenworthia alabamica (Brassicaceae). *American Journal of Botany*, 92, 1503-1512.

- BUSCH, J. W. & SCHOEN, D. J. 2008. The evolution of self-incompatibility when mates are limiting. *Trends in Plant Science*, 13, 128-136.
- CALLIS-DUEHL, K., VITTOZ, P., DEFOSSEZ, E. & RASMANN, S. 2017. Community-level relaxation of plant defenses against herbivores at high elevation. *Plant Ecology*, 218, 291-304.
- CARADONNA, P. J., PETRY, W. K., BRENNAN, R. M., CUNNINGHAM, J. L., BRONSTEIN, J. L., WASER, N. M. & SANDERS, N. J. 2017. Interaction rewiring and the rapid turnover of plant–pollinator networks. *Ecology letters*, 20, 385-394.
- CASTILLO, G., CRUZ, L. L., HERNANDEZ-CUMPLIDO, J., OYAMA, K., FLORES-ORTIZ, C. M., FORNONI, J., VALVERDE, P. L. & NUNEZ-FARFAN, J. 2013. Geographic association and temporal variation of chemical and physical defense and leaf damage in Datura stramonium. *Ecological Research*, 28, 663-672.
- CHALCOFF, V. R. & AIZEN, M. A. 2016. Pollination unpredictability and ovule number in a South-Andean Proteaceae along a rainfall gradient. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 64, 8-14.
- CHARLESWORTH, B., MORGAN, M. & CHARLESWORTH, D. 1993. The effect of deleterious mutations on neutral molecular variation. *Genetics*, 134, 1289-1303.
- CHARLESWORTH, D. 2003. Effects of inbreeding on the genetic diversity of populations. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 358, 1051-1070.
- CHARLESWORTH, D. & CHARLESWORTH, B. 1979. The evolution and breakdown of S-allele systems. *Heredity*, 43, 41.
- CHARLESWORTH, D. & CHARLESWORTH, B. 1987. Inbreeding depression and its evolutionary consequences. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 18, 237-268.
- CHEPTOU, P. O. & MASSOL, F. 2009. Pollination fluctuations drive evolutionary syndromes linking dispersal and mating system. *The American Naturalist*, 174, 46-55.
- COLEY, P. D. & AIDE, T. M. 1991. Comparison of herbivory and plant defenses in temperate and tropical broad-leaved forests: in Plant–animal interactions: evolutionary ecology in tropical and temperate regions.
- COLEY, P. D. & BARONE, J. A. 1996. Herbivory and plant defenses in tropical forests. *Annual Review* of Ecology and Systematics, 27, 305-335.
- COLEY, P. D., BRYANT, J. P. & CHAPIN, F. S. 1985. Resource availability and plant antiherbivore defense. *Science*, 230, 895-899.
- CRIMMINS, T. M., CRIMMINS, M. A. & BERTELSEN, C. D. 2013. Spring and summer patterns in flowering onset, duration, and constancy across a water-limited gradient. *American Journal of Botany*, 100, 1137-1147.
- DAUBER, J., BIESMEIJER, J. C., GABRIEL, D., KUNIN, W. E., LAMBORN, E., MEYER, B., NIELSEN, A., POTTS, S. G., ROBERTS, S. P. & SÕBER, V. 2010. Effects of patch size and density on flower visitation and seed set of wild plants: a pan-European approach. *Journal of Ecology*, 98, 188-196.
- DEVOTO, M., MEDAN, D. & MONTALDO, N. H. 2005. Patterns of interaction between plants and pollinators along an environmental gradient. *Oikos*, 109, 461-472.
- DEVOTO, M., MEDAN, D., ROIG-ALSINA, A. & MONTALDO, N. H. 2009. Patterns of species turnover in plant-pollinator communities along a precipitation gradient in Patagonia (Argentina). *Austral Ecology*, 34, 848-857.
- ECKERT, C. G. 2000. Contributions of autogamy and geitonogamy to self-fertilization in a massflowering, clonal plant. *Ecology*, 81, 532-542.
- ECKERT, C. G. 2002. Effect of geographical variation in pollinator fauna on the mating system of Decodon verticillatus (Lythraceae). *International Journal of Plant Sciences*, 163, 123-132.
- ECKERT, C. G., SAMIS, K. E. & DART, S. 2006. *Reproductive assurance and the evolution of uniparental reproduction in flowering plants*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- ENDARA, M.-J. & COLEY, P. D. 2011. The resource availability hypothesis revisited: a meta-analysis. *Functional Ecology*, 25, 389-398.
- EVANS, J. P. 2009. 21st century climate change in the Middle East. *Climatic Change*, 92, 417-432.

- EVANS, M. E. K., HEARN, D. J., THEISS, K. E., CRANSTON, K., HOLSINGER, K. E. & DONOGHUE, M. J. 2011. Extreme environments select for reproductive assurance: evidence from evening primroses (Oenothera). *New Phytologist*, 191, 555-563.
- FAUSTO, J. A., ECKHART, V. M. & GEBER, M. A. 2001. Reproductive assurance and the evolutionary ecology of self-pollination in Clarkia xantiana (Onagraceae). *American Journal of Botany*, 88, 1794-1800.
- FEINSINGER, P. 1987. Effects of plant species on each other's pollination: Is community structure influenced? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 2, 123-126.
- FELDMAN, T. S. 2008. The plot thickens: Does low density affect visitation and reproductive success in a perennial herb, and are these effects altered in the presence of a co-flowering species? *Oecologia*, 156, 807-817.
- FENSTER, C. B., ARMBRUSTER, W. S., WILSON, P., DUDASH, M. R. & THOMSON, J. D. 2004. Pollination syndromes and floral specialization. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 35, 375-403.
- FERRENBERG, S., LANGENHAN JOSEPH, M., LOSKOT STEVEN, A., ROZAL LEONARDO, M. & MITTON JEFFRY, B. 2017. Resin monoterpene defenses decline within three widespread species of pine (Pinus) along a 1530-m elevational gradient. *Ecosphere*, 8, e01975.
- FORNONI, J., NUNEZ-FARFAN, J., VALVERDE, P. L. & RAUSHER, M. D. 2004. Evolution of mixed strategies of plant defense allocation against natural enemies. *Evolution*, 58, 1685-1695.
- FRANKS, S. J., WEBER, J. J. & AITKEN, S. N. 2014. Evolutionary and plastic responses to climate change in terrestrial plant populations. *Evolutionary Applications*, **7**, 123-139.
- GALEN, C., SHORE, J. S. & DEYOE, H. 1991. Ecotypic divergence in alpine Polemonium viscosum: genetic structure, quantitative variation, and local adaptation. *Evolution*, 45, 1218-1228.
- GALLOWAY, L. F. & FENSTER, C. B. 2000. Population differentiation in an annual legume: local adaptation. *Evolution*, 54, 1173-1181.
- GATHMANN, A. & TSCHARNTKE, T. 2002. Foraging ranges of solitary bees. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 71, 757-764.
- GHAZOUL, J. 2005. Pollen and seed dispersal among dispersed plants. *Biological Reviews*, 80, 413-443.
- GOLAN-ANGELKO, A. & BAR-OR, Y. 2008. Israeli preparation for global climate change, MINISTRY FOR ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, O. O. T. C. S. Jerusalem.
- GOLODETS, C., STERNBERG, M., KIGEL, J., BOEKEN, B., HENKIN, Z., SELIGMAN, N. A. G. & UNGAR, E. D. 2013. From desert to Mediterranean rangelands: will increasing drought and inter-annual rainfall variability affect herbaceous annual primary productivity? *Climatic Change*, 119, 785-798.
- GOLS, R., WAGENAAR, R., BUKOVINSZKY, T., DAM, N. M. V., DICKE, M., BULLOCK, J. M. & HARVEY, J.
 A. 2008. Genetic variation in defense chemistry in wild cabbages affects herbivores and their endoparasitoids. *Ecology*, 89, 1616-1626.
- GOODWILLIE, C. 2001. Pollen limitation and the evolution of self-compatibility in Linanthus (Polemoniaceae). *International Journal of Plant Sciences*, 162, 1283-1292.
- GOODWILLIE, C., KALISZ, S. & ECKERT, C. G. 2005. The evolutionary enigma of mixed mating systems in plants: Occurrence, theoretical explanations, and empirical evidence. *Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, 36, 47-79.
- GRASER, G., OLDHAM, N. J., BROWN, P. D., TEMP, U. & GERSHENZON, J. 2001. The biosynthesis of benzoic acid glucosinolate esters in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Phytochemistry*, **57**, **23**-32.
- GREENSLADE, P. J. M. 1983. Adversity selection and the habitat templet. *The American Naturalist*, 122, 352-365.
- GREMER, J. R., KIMBALL, S., VENABLE, D. L. & PANNELL, J. 2016. Within-and among-year germination in Sonoran Desert winter annuals: bet hedging and predictive germination in a variable environment. *Ecology Letters*, 19, 1209-1218.

GRIFFIN, P. C. & WILLI, Y. 2014. Evolutionary shifts to self-fertilisation restricted to geographic range margins in North American Arabidopsis lyrata. *Ecology Letters*, **17**, 484-490.

GUPTA, S. K. 2016. *Biology and breeding of crucifers*, CRC Press.

- HAHN, P. G. & MARON, J. L. 2016. A framework for predicting intraspecific variation in plant defense. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 31, 646-656.
- HALKIER, B. A. & GERSHENZON, J. 2006. Biology and biochemistry of glucosinolates. *Annual Review* of Plant Biology, 57, 303-333.
- HANEL, S. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2015. Phenotypic response of plants to simulated climate change in a long-term rain-manipulation experiment: a multi-species study. *Oecologia*, 177, 1015-1024.
- HARDER, L. D. & BARRETT, S. C. 1996. Pollen dispersal and mating patterns in animal-pollinated plants. In: Lloyd D.G., Barrett S.C.H. (eds). *Floral biology*, 140-190.
- HARGREAVES, A., L., WEINER, J., L. & ECKERT, C., G. 2015. High-elevation range limit of an annual herb is neither caused nor reinforced by declining pollinator service. *Journal of Ecology*, 103, 572-584.
- HARGREAVES, A. L. & ECKERT, C. G. 2014. Evolution of dispersal and mating systems along geographic gradients: Implications for shifting ranges. *Functional Ecology*, 28, 5-21.
- HARVEY, J. A., VAN DAM, N. M., RAAIJMAKERS, C. E., BULLOCK, J. M. & GOLS, R. 2011. Tri-trophic effects of inter- and intra-population variation in defence chemistry of wild cabbage (Brassica oleracea). *Oecologia*, 166, 421-431.
- HEGLAND, S. J. & BOEKE, L. 2006. Relationships between the density and diversity of floral resources and flower visitor activity in a temperate grassland community. *Ecological Entomology*, 31, 532-538.
- HEGLAND, S. J., NIELSEN, A., LÁZARO, A., BJERKNES, A.-L. & TOTLAND, Ø. 2009. How does climate warming affect plant-pollinator interactions? *Ecology Letters*, **12**, 184-195.
- HEGLAND, S. J. & TOTLAND, Ø. 2012. Interactions for pollinator visitation and their consequences for reproduction in a plant community. *Acta Oecologica*, 43, 95-103.
- HERLIHY, C. R. & ECKERT, C. G. 2002. Genetic cost of reproductive assurance in a self-fertilizing plant. *Nature*, 416, 320-323.
- HERLIHY, C. R. & ECKERT, C. G. 2005. Evolution of self-fertilization at geographical range margins? A comparison of demographic, floral, and mating system variables in central vs. peripheral populations of Aquilegia canadensis (Ranunculaceae). *American Journal of Botany*, 92, 744-751.
- HERMS, D. A. & MATTSON, W. J. 1992. The dilemma of plants: to grow or defend. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 67, 283-335.
- HERRERA, C. M. & PELLMYR, O. 2009. *Plant animal interactions: an evolutionary approach*, John Wiley & Sons.
- HERRERA, C. M., SÁNCHEZ-LAFUENTE, A. M., MEDRANO, M., GUITIÁN, J., CERDÁ, X. & REY, P. 2001. Geographical variation in autonomous self-pollination levels unrelated to pollinator service in Helleborus foetidus (Ranunculaceae). *American Journal of Botany*, 88, 1025-1032.
- HILBERT, D. W., SWIFT, D. M., DETLING, J. K. & DYER, M. I. 1981. Relative growth rates and the grazing optimization hypothesis. *Oecologia*, 51, 14-18.
- HISCOCK, S. J. & KÜES, U. 1999. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of sexual incompatibility in plants and fungi. *In:* JEON, K. W. (ed.) *International Review of Cytology*. Academic Press.
- HISCOCK, S. J. & TABAH, D. A. 2003. The different mechanisms of sporophytic self–incompatibility. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 358, 1037.
- HOLZAPFEL, C., TIELBÖRGER, K., PARAG, H. A., KIGEL, J. & STERNBERG, M. 2006. Annual plant-shrub interactions along an aridity gradient. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, **7**, 268-279.
- HOPKINS, R. J., VAN DAM, N. M. & VAN LOON, J. J. A. 2009. Role of glucosinolates in insect-plant relationships and multitrophic interactions. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 54, 57-83.

- HOTHORN, T., BRETZ, F. & WESTFALL, P. 2008. Simultaneous Inference in General Parametric Models. *Biometrical Journal*, 50, 346--363.
- IPCC. 2013. Climate change 2013: the physical science basis: Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, UK and New York, USA: Cambridge university press.
- IPCC. 2014. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, CORE WRITING TEAM, R. K. P. A. L. A. M. E. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151.
- JACOBS, J. H., CLARK, S. J., DENHOLM, I., GOULSON, D., STOATE, C. & OSBORNE, J. L. 2009. Pollination biology of fruit-bearing hedgerow plants and the role of flower-visiting insects in fruit-set. *Annals of Botany*, 104, 1397-1404.
- JAIN, S. K. 1976. The evolution of inbreeding in plants. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 7, 469-495.
- JOHNSON, M. T. J., CAMPBELL, S. A. & BARRETT, S. C. H. 2015. Evolutionary interactions between plant reproduction and defense against herbivores. *In:* FUTUYMA, D. J. (ed.) *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, Vol 46.* Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- JOHNSON, T. R., STEWART, S. L., KAUTH, P., KANE, M. E. & PHILMAN, N. 2009. Confronting assumptions about spontaneous autogamy in populations of Eulophia alta (Orchidaceae) in south Florida: assessing the effect of pollination treatments on seed formation, seed germination and seedling development. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 161, 78-88.
- JONES, N. T., HUSBAND, B. C. & MACDOUGALL, A. S. 2013. Reproductive system of a mixed-mating plant responds to climate perturbation by increased selfing. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences,* 280.
- KALISZ, S., VOGLER, D. W. & HANLEY, K. M. 2004. Context-dependent autonomous self-fertilization yields reproductive assurance and mixed mating. *Nature*, 430, 884.
- KARBAN, R. & BALDWIN, I. 1997. *Induced Responses to Herbivory,* Chicago, The Unviversity of Chicago Press.
- KATZ, O., LEV-YADUN, S. & BAR, P. 2013. Plasticity and variability in the patterns of phytolith formation in Asteraceae species along a large rainfall gradient in Israel. *Flora-Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants,* 208, 438-444.
- KAY, K. M. & PICKLUM, D. A. 2013. Drought alters the expression of mating system traits in two species of Clarkia. *Evolutionary Ecology*, 27, 899-910.
- KEARNS, C. A. 1992. Anthophilous fly distribution across an elevation gradient. *American Midland Naturalist*, 172-182.
- KIGEL, J., KONSENS, I., ROSEN, N., ROTEM, G., KON, A. & FRAGMAN-SAPIR, O. 2011. Relationships between flowering time and rainfall gradients across Mediterranean-desert transects. *Israel Journal of Ecology & Evolution*, 57, 91-109.
- KIM, J. H. & JANDER, G. 2007. Myzus persicae (green peach aphid) feeding on Arabidopsis induces the formation of a deterrent indole glucosinolate. *The Plant Journal*, 49, 1008-1019.
- KOOYERS, N. J., GAGE, L. R., AL-LOZI, A. & OLSEN, K. M. 2014. Aridity shapes cyanogenesis cline evolution in white clover (Trifolium repens L.). *Molecular ecology*, 23, 1053-1070.
- KOSKI, M. H., GROSSENBACHER, D. L., BUSCH, J. W. & GALLOWAY, L. F. 2017. A geographic cline in the ability to self-fertilize is unrelated to the pollination environment. *Ecology*, 98, 2930-2939.
- KRON, P., STEWART, S. C. & BACK, A. 1993. Self-compatibility, autonomous self-pollination, and insect-mediated pollination in the clonal species Iris versicolor. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 71, 1503-1509.
- KURZE, S., BAREITHER, N. & METZ, J. 2017. Phenology, roots and reproductive allocation, but not the LHS scheme, shape ecotypes along an aridity gradient. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 29, 20-29.

- KUŚNIERCZYK, A., WINGE, P., MIDELFART, H., ARMBRUSTER, W. S., ROSSITER, J. T. & BONES, A. M. 2007. Transcriptional responses of Arabidopsis thaliana ecotypes with different glucosinolate profiles after attack by polyphagous Myzus persicae and oligophagous Brevicoryne brassicae. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58, 2537-2552.
- KUŚNIERCZYK, A., WINGE, P. E. R., JØRSTAD TOMMY, S., TROCZYŃSKA, J., ROSSITER JOHN, T. & BONES ATLE, M. 2008. Towards global understanding of plant defence against aphids – timing and dynamics of early Arabidopsis defence responses to cabbage aphid (Brevicoryne brassicae) attack. *Plant, Cell & Environment,* 31, 1097-1115.
- LAMPEI, C., METZ, J. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2017. Clinal population divergence in an adaptive parental environmental effect that adjusts seed banking. *New Phytologist*, 214, 1230-1244.
- LAMPEI, C. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2010. Evolvability of between-year seed dormancy in populations along an aridity gradient. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 100, 924-934.
- LANDE, R. & SCHEMSKE, D. W. 1985. The evolution of self-fertilization and inbreeding depression in Plants. I. Genetic Models. *Evolution*, 39, 24-40.
- LÁZARO, A., LUNDGREN, R. & TOTLAND, Ø. 2009. Co-flowering neighbors influence the diversity and identity of pollinator groups visiting plant species. *Oikos*, 118, 691-702.
- LENTH, R. V. 2016. Least-Squares Means: The R Package Ismeans. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 69, 1-33.
- LEVIN, D. A. 1996. The evolutionary significance of pseudo-self-fertility. *The American Naturalist*, 148, 321-332.
- LEVIN, D. A. 2010. Environment-enhanced self-fertilization: Implications for niche shifts in adjacent populations. *Journal of Ecology*, 98, 1276-1283.
- LEVIN, D. A. 2012. Mating system shifts on the trailing edge. Annals of Botany, 109, 613-620.
- LIANCOURT, P. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2009. Competition and a short growing season lead to ecotypic differentiation at the two extremes of the ecological range. *Functional Ecology*, 23, 397-404.
- LIANCOURT, P., TIELBÖRGER, K., BANGERTER, S. & PRASSE, R. 2009. Components of 'competitive ability' in the LHS model: Implication on coexistence for twelve co-occurring Mediterranean grasses. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 10, 707-714.
- LLOYD, D. G. 1965. Evolution of self-compatibility and racial differentiation in Leavenworthia (Cruciferae). *Contributions from the Gray Herbarium of Harvard University*, 3-134.
- LLOYD, D. G. 1979. Some reproductive factors affecting the selection of self-fertilization in plants. *The American Naturalist*, 113, 67-79.
- LLOYD, D. G. 1992. Self- and cross-fertilization in plants. II. The selection of self- fertilization. International Journal of Plant Sciences, 153, 370-380.
- LLOYD, D. G. & SCHOEN, D. J. 1992. Self-and cross-fertilization in plants. I. Functional dimensions. International Journal of Plant Sciences, 153, 358-369.
- LOUTHAN, A. M., DOAK, D. F. & ANGERT, A. L. 2015. Where and when do species interactions set range limits? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 30, 780-792.
- LYSAK, M. A. & KOCH, M. A. 2011. Phylogeny, genome, and karyotype evolution of crucifers (Brassicaceae). *Genetics and Genomics of the Brassicaceae*. Springer.
- MABLE, B. K. & ADAM, A. 2007. Patterns of genetic diversity in outcrossing and selfing populations of Arabidopsis lyrata. *Molecular Ecology*, 16, 3565-3580.
- MARON, J. L., BAER, K. C. & ANGERT, A. L. 2014. Disentangling the drivers of context-dependent plant–animal interactions. *Journal of Ecology*, 102, 1485-1496.
- MASCHINSKI, J. & WHITHAM, T. G. 1989. The continuum of plant responses to herbivory: the influence of plant association, nutrient availability, and timing. *The American Naturalist*, 134, 1-19.
- MENGE, B. A. 2003. The overriding importance of environmental context in determining the outcome of species-deletion experiments. *The importance of species: Perspectives on expendability and triage*, 16-43.

MERILA, J. & HENDRY, A. P. 2014. Climate change, adaptation, and phenotypic plasticity: the problem and the evidence. *Evolutionary Applications*, 7, 1-14.

- METSARE, M., ILVES, A., HALDNA, M., KULL, T. & TALI, K. 2015. Four seed-quality measures in orchids with different pollination systems. *Acta Botanica Gallica*, 162, 263-269.
- METZ, J., FREUNDT, H. & JELTSCH, F. 2018. Stable germination behavior but partly changing seed– seed interactions along a steep rainfall gradient. *Basic and Applied Ecology*.
- METZ, J., LIANCOURT, P., KIGEL, J., HAREL, D., STERNBERG, M. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2010. Plant survival in relation to seed size along environmental gradients: a long-term study from semi-arid and Mediterranean annual plant communities. *Journal of Ecology*, 98, 697-704.
- METZ, J., RIBBERS, K., TIELBÖRGER, K. & MULLER, C. 2014. Long- and medium-term effects of aridity on the chemical defence of a widespread Brassicaceae in the Mediterranean. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 105, 39-45.
- METZ, J., VON OPPEN, J. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2015. Parental environmental effects due to contrasting watering adapt competitive ability, but not drought tolerance, in offspring of a semi-arid annual Brassicaceae. *Journal of Ecology*, 103, 990-997.
- MEWIS, I., APPEL, H. M., HOM, A., RAINA, R. & SCHULTZ, J. C. 2005. Major signaling pathways modulate Arabidopsis glucosinolate accumulation and response to both phloem-feeding and chewing insects. *Plant Physiology*, 138, 1149.
- MEWIS, I., KHAN, M. A., GLAWISCHNIG, E., SCHREINER, M. & ULRICHS, C. 2012. Water stress and aphid feeding differentially influence metabolite composition in Arabidopsis thaliana (L.). *PLoS One*, **7**, e48661.
- MINCKLEY, R. L., ROULSTON, T. A., H. & WILLIAMS, N. M. 2013. Resource assurance predicts specialist and generalist bee activity in drought. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280.
- MITTON, J. B. & FERRENBERG, S. M. 2012. Mountain pine beetle develops an unprecedented summer generation in response to climate warming. *The American Naturalist*, 179, E163-E171.
- MOELLER, D. A., GEBER, M. A., ECKHART, V. M. & TIFFIN, P. 2012. Reduced pollinator service and elevated pollen limitation at the geographic range limit of an annual plant. *Ecology*, 93, 1036-1048.
- MOLES, A. T., BONSER, S. P., POORE, A., G. B., WALLIS, I. R. & FOLEY, W. J. 2011. Assessing the evidence for latitudinal gradients in plant defence and herbivory. *Functional Ecology*, 25, 380-388.
- MOREIRA, X., CASTAGNEYROL, B., ABDALA-ROBERTS, L., BERNY-MIER Y TERAN, J. C., TIMMERMANS, B. G. H., BRUUN, H. H., COVELO, F., GLAUSER, G., RASMANN, S. & TACK, A. J. M. 2017a. Latitudinal variation in plant chemical defences drives latitudinal patterns of leaf herbivory. *Ecography*.
- MOREIRA, X., PETRY WILLIAM, K., MOONEY KAILEN, A., RASMANN, S. & ABDALA-ROBERTS, L. 2017b. Elevational gradients in plant defences and insect herbivory: recent advances in the field and prospects for future research. *Ecography*, 0.
- MÜLLER, R., DE VOS, M., SUN, J. Y., SØNDERBY, I. E., HALKIER, B. A., WITTSTOCK, U. & JANDER, G. 2010. Differential effects of indole and aliphatic glucosinolates on lepidopteran herbivores. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 36, 905-913.
- MYERS, N., MITTERMEIER, R. A., MITTERMEIER, C. G., DA FONSECA, G. A. B. & KENT, J. 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*, 403, 853.
- NAGYLAKI, T. 1976. A model for the evolution of self-fertilization and vegetative reproduction. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 58, 55-58.
- NASRALLAH, M. E., LIU, P. & NASRALLAH, J. B. 2002. Generation of self-incompatible Arabidopsis thaliana by transfer of two S locus genes from A. lyrata. *Science*, 297, 247-249.

- NOVOTNY, V., MILLER SCOTT, E., BASSET, Y., CIZEK, L., DARROW, K., KAUPA, B., KUA, J. & WEIBLEN GEORGE, D. 2005. An altitudinal comparison of caterpillar (Lepidoptera) assemblages on Ficus trees in Papua New Guinea. *Journal of Biogeography*, 32, 1303-1314.
- NOY-MEIR, I. 1973. Desert ecosystems: environment and producers. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 4, 25-51.
- OGILVIE, J. E., GRIFFIN, S. R., GEZON, Z. J., INOUYE, B. D., UNDERWOOD, N., INOUYE, D. W. & IRWIN, R. E. 2017. Interannual bumble bee abundance is driven by indirect climate effects on floral resource phenology. *Ecology letters*, 20, 1507-1515.
- OKSANEN, J., BLANCHET, F.G., FRIENDLY, M., KINDT, R., LEGENDRE, P., MCGLINN, D., MINCHIN, P.R., O'HARA, R.B., SIMPSON, G.L., SOLYMOS, P., HENRY, M., STEVENS, H., SZOECS, E., WAGNER, H., 2017. vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.4-3.
- OPEDAL, Ø. H., LISTEMANN, J., ALBERTSEN, E., ARMBRUSTER, W. S. & PÉLABON, C. 2016. Multiple effects of drought on pollination and mating-system traits in Dalechampia scandens. *International Journal of Plant Sciences*, 177, 682-693.
- PAKE, C. E. & VENABLE, D. L. 1996. Seed banks in desert annuals: Implications for persistence and coexistence in variable environments. *Ecology*, 77, 1427-1435.
- PANNELL, J. R. & BARRETT, S. C. H. 1998. Baker's law revisited: reproductive assurance in a a metapopulation. *Evolution*, 52, 657-668.
- PANNELL, J. R. & BARRETT, S. C. H. 2001. Effects of population size and metapopulation dynamics on a mating-system polymorphism. *Theoretical Population Biology*, 59, 145-155.
- PARMESAN, C. 2006. Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. *Annual Review* of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 37, 637-669.
- PENNINGS, S. C., HO, C.-K., SALGADO CRISTIANO, S., WIĘSKI, K., DAVÉ, N., KUNZA AMY, E. & WASON ELIZABETH, L. 2009. Latitudinal variation in herbivore pressure in Atlantic Coast salt marshes. *Ecology*, 90, 183-195.
- PEÑUELAS, J. & FILELLA, I. 2001. Responses to a warming world. Science, 294, 793.
- PETANIDOU, T., GODFREE, R. C., SONG, D. S., KANTSA, A., DUPONT, Y. L. & WASER, N. M. 2012. Selfcompatibility and plant invasiveness: comparing species in native and invasive ranges. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 14, 3-12.
- PETERSON, M. L. & KAY, K. M. 2015. Mating system plasticity promotes persistence and adaptation of colonizing populations of hermaphroditic angiosperms. *The American Naturalist*, 185, 28-43.
- PETRŮ, M. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2008. Germination behaviour of annual plants under changing climatic conditions: separating local and regional environmental effects. *Oecologia*, 155, 717-728.
- PETRŮ, M., TIELBÖRGER, K., BELKIN, R., STERNBERG, M. & JELTSCH, F. 2006. Life history variation in an annual plant under two opposing environmental constraints along an aridity gradient. *Ecography*, 29, 66-74.
- PLITMANN, U. 1993. Pollen tube attrition as related to breeding systems in Brassicaceae. *Plant Systematics and Evolution*, 188, 65-72.
- PORCHER, E. & LANDE, R. 2005. Loss of gametophytic self-incompatibility with evolution of inbreeding depression. *Evolution*, 59, 46-60.
- PRATT, J. D. & MOONEY, K. A. 2013. Clinal adaptation and adaptive plasticity in Artemisia californica: implications for the response of a foundation species to predicted climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 19, 2454-2466.
- PRICE, P. W. 1991. The plant vigor hypothesis and herbivore attack. *Oikos*, 62, 244-251.
- QUINTERO, C., MORALES, C. L. & AIZEN, M. A. 2010. Effects of anthropogenic habitat disturbance on local pollinator diversity and species turnover across a precipitation gradient. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 19, 257-274.
- R CORE TEAM 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: Foundation for Statistical Computing.

- R CORE TEAM 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- RASMANN, S., BURI, A., GALLOT-LAVALLÉE, M., JOAQUIM, J., PURCELL, J. & PELLISSIER, L. 2014. Differential allocation and deployment of direct and indirect defences by Vicia sepium along elevation gradients. *Journal of Ecology*, 102, 930-938.
- RAZANAJATOVO, M., MAUREL, N., DAWSON, W., ESSL, F., KREFT, H., PERGL, J., PYŠEK, P., WEIGELT, P., WINTER, M. & VAN KLEUNEN, M. 2016. Plants capable of selfing are more likely to become naturalized. *Nature communications*, **7**, 13313.
- REINARTZ, J. A. & LES, D. H. 1994. Bottleneck-Induced Dissolution of Self-Incompatibility and Breeding System Consequences in Aster furcatus (Asteraceae). *American Journal of Botany*, 81, 446-455.
- RHOADES, D. F. 1979. Evolution of plant chemical defense against herbivores. *Herbivores: their interaction with secondary plant metabolites*, 3-54.
- RODRÍGUEZ-CASTAÑEDA, G., DYER LEE, A., BREHM, G., CONNAHS, H., FORKNER REBECCA, E. & WALLA THOMAS, R. 2010. Tropical forests are not flat: how mountains affect herbivore diversity. *Ecology Letters*, 13, 1348-1357.
- RYSAVY, A., SEIFAN, M., STERNBERG, M. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2016. Neighbour effects on shrub seedling establishment override climate change impacts in a Mediterranean community. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 27, 227-237.
- SALA, O. E., CHAPIN, F. S., ARMESTO, J. J., BERLOW, E., BLOOMFIELD, J., DIRZO, R., HUBER-SANWALD, E., HUENNEKE, L. F., JACKSON, R. B. & KINZIG, A. 2000. Global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. Science, 287, 1770-1774.
- SALGADO, C. S. & PENNINGS, S. C. 2005. Latitudinal variation in palatability of salt-marsh plants: are differences constitutive? *Ecology*, 86, 1571-1579.
- SALGUERO-GOMEZ, R., SIEWERT, W., CASPER, B. B. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2012. A demographic approach to study effects of climate change in desert plants. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 367, 3100-3114.
- SCHEMSKE, D. W. & LANDE, R. 1985. The evolution of self-fertilization and inbreeding depression in plants. II. Empirical observations. *Evolution*, 39, 41-52.
- SCHEMSKE, D. W., MITTELBACH, G. G., CORNELL, H. V., SOBEL, J. M. & ROY, K. 2009. Is there a latitudinal gradient in the importance of biotic interactions? *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics,* 40, 245-269.
- SCHIFFERS, K. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2006. Ontogenetic shifts in interactions among annual plants. *Journal of Ecology*, 94, 336-341.
- SCOGINGS, P. F. 2018. Foliar flavonol concentration in Sclerocarya birrea saplings responds to nutrient fertilisation according to growth-differentiation balance hypothesis. *Phytochemistry Letters*, 23, 180-184.
- SEAVEY, S. R. & BAWA, K. S. 1986. Late-acting self-incompatibility in angiosperms. *The Botanical Review*, 52, 195-219.
- SEIFAN, M., HOCH, E.-M., HANOTEAUX, S. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2014. The outcome of shared pollination services is affected by the density and spatial pattern of an attractive neighbour. *Journal of Ecology*, 102, 953-962.
- SHIVANNA, K. R., HESLOP-HARRISON, Y. & HESLOP-HARRISON, J. 1978. The pollen-stigma interaction: bud pollination in the Cruciferae. *Acta Botanica Neerlandica*, 27, 107-119.
- SIEMENS, D. H., LISCHKE, H., MAGGIULLI, N., SCHÜRCH, S. & ROY, B. A. 2003. Cost of resistance and tolerance under competition: the defense-stress benefit hypothesis. *Evolutionary Ecology*, 17, 247-263.
- SIEMENS, D. H. & MITCHELL-OLDS, T. 1996. Glucosinolates and herbivory by specialists (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae, Lepidoptera: Plutellidae): consequences of concentration and induced resistance. *Environmental Entomology*, 25, 1344-1353.

SIEWERT, W. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2010. Dispersal-dormancy relationships in annual plants: putting model predictions to the test. *The American Naturalist*, 176, 490-500.

- SINCLAIR, R. J. & HUGHES, L. 2008. Incidence of leaf mining in different vegetation types across rainfall, canopy cover and latitudinal gradients. *Austral Ecology*, 33, 353-360.
- SMIATEK, G., KUNSTMANN, H. & HECKL, A. 2011. High-resolution climate change simulations for the Jordan River area. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 116.
- SOTKA, E. E. & HAY, M. E. 2002. Geographic variation among herbivore populations in tolerance for a chemically rich seaweed. *Ecology*, 83, 2721-2735.
- SOTKA, E. E., WARES, J. P. & HAY, M. E. 2003. Geographic and genetic variation in feeding preference for chemically defended seaweeds. *Evolution*, 57, 2262-2276.
- STAMP, N. 2003. Out of the quagmire of plant defense hypotheses. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 78, 23-55.
- STERNBERG, M., HOLZAPFEL, C., TIELBÖRGER, K., SARAH, P., KIGEL, J., LAVEE, H., FLEISCHER, A., JELTSCH, F. & KOCHY, M. 2011. The use and misuse of climatic gradients for evaluating climate impact on dryland ecosystems - an example for the solution of conceptual problems. *Climate Change - Geophysical Foundations and Ecological Effects*, 361-374.
- STOLPE, C., KRÄMER, U. & MÜLLER, C. 2017. Heavy metal (hyper)accumulation in leaves of Arabidopsis halleri is accompanied by a reduced performance of herbivores and shifts in leaf glucosinolate and element concentrations. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 133, 78-86.
- STRONG, D. R. 1977. Insect species richness: hispine bettles of Heliconia Latispatha. *Ecology*, 58, 573-582.
- THOMPSON, J. N. 1988. Variation in Interspecific Interactions. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 19, 65-87.
- TIELBÖRGER, K., BILTON, M. C., METZ, J., KIGEL, J., HOLZAPFEL, C., LEBRIJA-TREJOS, E., KONSENS, I., PARAG, H. A. & STERNBERG, M. 2014. Middle-Eastern plant communities tolerate 9 years of drought in a multi-site climate manipulation experiment. *Nature Communications*, 5, 9.
- TIELBÖRGER, K. & PETRŮ, M. 2010. An experimental test for effects of the maternal environment on delayed germination. *Journal of Ecology*, 98, 1216-1223.
- TIELBÖRGER, K., PETRŮ, M. & LAMPEI, C. 2012. Bet-hedging germination in annual plants: a sound empirical test of the theoretical foundations. *Oikos*, 121, 1860-1868.
- TIELBÖRGER, K. & SALGUERO-GÓMEZ, R. 2014. Some like it hot: are desert plants indifferent to climate change? *In:* LÜTTGE, U., BEYSCHLAG, W. & CUSHMAN, J. (eds.) *Progress in Botany: Vol. 75.* Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- TOMIOLO, S., METZ, J., BLACKWOOD, C. B., DJENDOUCI, K., HENNEBERG, L., MÜLLER, C. & TIELBÖRGER, K. 2017. Short-term drought and long-term climate legacy affect production of chemical defenses among plant ecotypes. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 141, 124-131.
- TRAVIS, J. 1996. The significance of geographical variation in species interactions. *The American Naturalist*, 148, S1-S8.
- VALLEJO-MARÍN, M. & UYENOYAMA, M. K. 2004. On the evolutionary costs of self-incompatibility: incomplete reproductive compensation due to pollen limitation. *Evolution*, 58, 1924-1935.
- VAN DER MEIJDEN, E. 1996. Plant defence, an evolutionary dilemma: contrasting effects of (specialist and generalist) herbivores and natural enemies. *In:* STÄDLER, E., ROWELL-RAHIER, M. & BAUER, R. (eds.) *Proceedings of the 9th International Symposium on Insect-Plant Relationships*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- VENABLE, D. L. 2007. Bet hedging in a guild of desert annuals. *Ecology*, 88, 1086-1090.
- VOLIS, S., MENDLINGER, S. & WARD, D. 2002a. Adaptive traits of wild barley plants of Mediterranean and desert origin. *Oecologia*, 133, 131-138.

- VOLIS, S., MENDLINGER, S. & WARD, D. 2002b. Differentiation in populations of Hordeum spontaneum along a gradient of environmental productivity and predictability: life history and local adaptation. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, **77**, **479**-490.
- VOLIS, S., MENDLINGER, S. & WARD, D. 2002c. Differentiation in populations of Hordeum spontaneum Koch along a gradient of environmental productivity and predictability: plasticity in response to water and nutrient stress. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 75, 301-312.
- WALTHER, G.-R., POST, E., CONVEY, P., MENZEL, A., PARMESAN, C., BEEBEE, T. J. C., FROMENTIN, J.-M., HOEGH-GULDBERG, O. & BAIRLEIN, F. 2002. Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature*, 416, 389.
- WARD, D., SHRESTHA, M. K. & GOLAN-GOLDHIRSH, A. 2011. Evolution and ecology meet molecular genetics: adaptive phenotypic plasticity in two isolated Negev desert populations of Acacia raddiana at either end of a rainfall gradient. *Annals of Botany*, 109, 247-255.
- WHITE, T. C. R. 1984. The abundance of invertebrate herbivores in relation to the availability of nitrogen in stressed food plants. *Oecologia*, 63, 90-105.
- WIENS, D. 1984. Ovule survivorship, brood size, life history, breeding systems, and reproductive success in plants. *Oecologia*, 64, 47-53.
- WIENS, D., CALVIN, C. L., WILSON, C. A., DAVERN, C. I., FRANK, D. & SEAVEY, S. R. 1987. Reproductive success, spontaneous embryo abortion, and genetic load in flowering plants. *Oecologia*, 71, 501-509.
- WIĘSKI, K. & PENNINGS, S. 2014. Latitudinal variation in resistance and tolerance to herbivory of a salt marsh shrub. *Ecography*, 37, 763-769.
- WILCOCK, C. & NEILAND, R. 2002. Pollination failure in plants: why it happens and when it matters. *Trends in Plant Science*, **7**, 270-277.
- WITTSTOCK, U. & HALKIER, B. A. 2002. Glucosinolate research in the Arabidopsis era. *Trends in Plant Science*, 7, 263-270.
- WMO. 2018. World Meteorological Organisation Statement on the state of the global climate in 2017, Geneva, Switzerland, 40.
- WOODS, E. C., HASTINGS, A. P., TURLEY, N. E., HEARD, S. B. & AGRAWAL, A. A. 2012. Adaptive geographical clines in the growth and defense of a native plant. *Ecological Monographs*, 82, 149-168.
- WRIGHT, S. J. 1999. Plant diversity in tropical forests. *Handbook of functional plant ecology. Dekker, New York*, 449-472.
- ZOHARY, M. 1966. Flora Palaestina, Jerusalem, The Israel Academy of Science and Humanities.

ZUUR, A. F., IENO, E. N., WALKER, N. J., SAVELIEV, A. A. & SMITH, G. M. 2009. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Gail M, Krickeberg K, Samet JM, Tsiatis A, Wong W, editors. *New York, NY: Spring Science and Business Media*.
Appendix

Pollinator activity

I compared AICc values for models composed of the factor site and all combination of the covariates representing the number of flowers on the specific target species and the total number of flowers (regardless of species) present in the quadrat (Table A1).

Table A1: AICc values for potential models explaining pollinator visits to the whole quadrat, to *Biscutella didyma*, to *Isatis lusitanica*, and to *Sinapis alba*. The potential explanatory variables were site (arid, semi-arid, Mediterranean and mesic-Mediterranean), total number of flowers in the quadrat, and the number of flowers on the specific target plant. The selected models are indicated in bold.

	Visits to			
	quadrat	B. didyma	I. lusitanica	S. alba
Site	-34.04	5.72	5.82	30.82
Site, # target flowers	-31.64	-58.88	9.20	22.66
Site, # total flowers	-44.62	1.45	7.31	30.64
Site, # target flowers, # total flowers	-42.58	-55.69	11.50	27.74

Table A2: Coefficients (SE) for the selected models for pollinator visits to the quadrat and visits to each of the target species separately (Table A1). The potential explanatory variables were site (arid, semiarid, Mediterranean and mesic-Mediterranean), total number of flowers in the quadrat, and the number of flowers on the specific target plant.

	Visits to			
	quadrat	B. didyma	I. lusitanica	S. alba
Intercept	-0.78(0.218)	2.134(0.751)**	-1.270(0.285)	2.704(0.842)
Arid	-1.225(0.240)	-1.679(6.731)		
Semi-arid	-1.128(0.246)	-8.061(9.682)	-1.440(1.332)	-2.733(0.618)
Med.	-0.664(0.296)*	-1.480(0.557)**	0.485(0.343)	-2.033(0.731)**
# target flowers		-0.327(0.100)**		0.040(0.013)**
# total flowers	0.005(0.001)			

Bold: P-values <0.001; **: 0.01>P-values >0.001; *: 0.05>P-values >0.01.

In addition, I tested for the potential correlation between visits to the target species and the general level of visits to the quadrat. I could show (Fig. A1) that overall, the species of the Brassicaceae family were an integral part of the flower community in my study and the visits to their flowers were strongly correlated (r=0.928; P < 0.001) with the overall visits to the quadrats.



visits to all flowers **Figure A1**: Correlation between the number of pollinator visits to the target species and the number of pollinator visits to all flowers in the quadrat.

Pollinator diversity

Table A3: Coefficients (SE) for the analysis of the effect of site (arid, semi-arid, Mediterranean andmesic-Mediterranean) on pollinator diversity (species richness and Shannon-Wiener diversity index)in the observed quadrats. Bold: P-values <0.001; **: 0.01>P-values >0.001; *: 0.05>P-values >0.01

	Richness	S-W diversity
Intercept	4.714(7.793)	0.384(0.145)*
Semi-arid	5.286(10.671)	0.298(0.199)
Med.	12.286(11.471)	0.131(0.213)
Mesic-Med.	43.195(9.968)	0.778(0.185)

Autonomous selfing

Tables A4-S6 present model coefficients (SE) for the analysis of the effect of site, treatment (exclusion of *vs.* exposure to pollinators) and their interactions on the seed production per flower and seed viability for each target species.

Table A4: Model coefficients (SE) for the relative seed production and seed viability for *B. didyma*.Bold: P-values <0.001; **: 0.01>P-values >0.001; *: 0.05>P-values >0.01.

Biscutella didyma		Seed production	Seed viability
Intercept		0581(0.038)	-0.041(0.045)
Site	Semi-arid	-0.013.054)	-0.087(0.077)
	Med.	-0.127(0.052)	0.027(0.088)
	Mesic-Med.	-0.072(0.004)	-0.023(0.080)
Treatment	Exposure	-0.160(0.054)	0.006(0.077)
Site × Treatment	Semi-arid × Exposure	0.151(0.074)	0.070(0.118)
	Med × Exposure	0.262(0.074)	-0.029(0.130)
	Mesic-Med × Exposure	0.150(0.079)	0.022(0.124)

Table A5: Model coefficients (SE) for the relative seed production and seed viability for *I. lusitanica*.Bold: P-values <0.001; **: 0.01>P-values >0.001; *: 0.05>P-values >0.01

Isatis lusitanica		Seed production	Seed viability
Intercept		-3.476(0.048)	-0.526(0.350)
Site	Med.	-14.030(0.710)	-0.076(0.144)
	Mesic-Med.	-0.557(0.068)	0.526(0.639)
Treatment	Exposure	3.146(0.054)	0.452(0.365)
Site × Treatment	Med × Exposure	14.039(0.079)	N.A.
	Mesic-Med × Exposure	-0.438(0.074)	-0.582(0.653)

 Table A6: Model coefficients (SE) for the relative seed production and seed viability for S. alba.

Bold: P-values <0.001; **: 0.01>P-values >0.001; *: 0.05>P-values >0.01.

Sinapis alba		Seed production	Seed viability
Intercept		0.424(0.068)	-0.295(0.233)
Site	Med.	-0.222(0.090)*	0.113(0.327)
	Mesic-Med.	-0.335(0.093)	-0.621(0.393)
Treatment	Exposure	-2.169(1.769)	0.169(0.242)
Site × Treatment	Med × Exposure	-0.486(1.863)	-0.044(0.343)
	Mesic-Med × Exposure	-1.034(1.996)	0.647(0.403)

Although I did not have a direct way to connect pollinator observations to the relative seed production, I wanted to estimate the potential effect of pollinator abundance on the relative seed production. To do that, I analysed, for each species separately, the effect of the average number of visiting pollinators per site as a covariate in addition to the effects of treatment and their interaction (GLM normal distribution and log link).

None of the factors had an effect on relative seed production in *B. didyma* and *I. lusitanica*, whilst treatment had a significant effect in *S. alba* ($\chi_1^2 = 4.98$; P = 0.026; Fig. A2, Table A7).

Table A7: Model coefficients (SE) for the relative seed production as a function of pollination exclusiontreatment and the average number of visiting pollinators to the quadrats. Bold: P-values <0.001; **:</td>0.01>P-values >0.001; *: 0.05>P-values >0.01

	Relative seed production		
	B. didyma	I. lusitanica	S. alba
Intercept	0.601(0.038)	-0.372(0.053)	0.626(0.056)
Treatment: Exclusion	-0.036(0.057)	-4.021(2.227)	-2.089(0.935)*
# visits to quadrat	-0.026(0.013)	0.007(0.004)	-0.003(0.001)*
Treatment × # visits	0.025(0.020)	0.054(0.107)	-0.019(0.048)



Figure A2: Relationship between the average number of visiting pollinators to a quadrat and relative seed production for the three-target species. Black symbols and dotted lines = pollinator exclusion treatment, white symbols and solid lines = pollinator exposure treatment.